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TR - RECEIVED

Wilham Bullard, Executive Director ~ 97 ‘999
South Dakota Public Utilities Commission EC A

500 E. Capitol Ave.
State Capitol Building, First Floor SOUTH DAKOTA TUBUC

Pierre, South Dakota 57501 UTILITIES

Re: Application of BCGI Communications Corp
Dear Mr. Bullard:

Enclosed for filing on behalf of BCGI Communications Corp. ("BCGI") are an original and ten (10)
copies of BCGI's application for a Certificate of Authority to Provide Resold Interexchange
Telecommunications Services in South Dakota. Please find enclosed a check for $250.00, made payable to
the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission, to cover the requisite filing fee.

Please date-stamp the enclosed extra copy of this letter and retumn it in the self-addressed,
postage-paid envelope attached. Should you have any questions concerning this filing, please do not hesitate
to contact Jeanne Stockman at (202) 295-8392.

Very truly yours,
C ine Wang

Jeanne W. Stockman
Counsel for BCGI Communications Corp.
Enclosures

cc: Alan Bouffard
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BEFORE THE
SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION HECE'VED
o DEC 27 1999
Application of )
) SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC
BCGI Communications Corp. ) UTILITIES COMMISSION

Docket No.

For a Certificate of Authority to Provide
Resold Interexchange Telecommunications
Services within the State of South Dakota

APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY
BCGI Communications Corp. ("BCGI" or "Applicant”), by its undersigned counsel, hereby
submits its Application for a Certificate of Authority to provide resold intrastate interexchange
telecommunications services pursuant to Section 49-31-3 of the South Dakota Administrative Rules
and the Rules of the Public Utilities Commission.
In support of this Application, pursuant to Section 20:10:24:02 of the Telecommunications

Service Rules, BCGI provides the following information:

legal name is BCGI Communications Corp. Applicant maintains its principal place of business at:
100 Sylvan Road
Woburn, MA 01801
Telephone: (617) 692-7000
Facsimile: (617) 692-6230
Correspondence or communications pertaining to this Application should be directed to Applicant’s

attorneys of record:



Catherine Wang, Esq.

Jeanne W. Stockman, Esq.

Swidler Berlin Shereff Friedman, LLP
3000 K St., N.W., Suite 300
Washington, D.C. 20007-5116
Telephone: (202) 424-7500
Facsimile: (202) 424-7643

with a copy to:

Alan Bouffard

100 Sylvan Road

Woburn, MA 01801
Telephone: (617) 692-7000
Facsimile: (617) 692-6230

2. 20:10:24:02(2). Name under which applicant will provide services. Applicant will
provide the proposed services under the name of "BCGI Communications Corp."

to transact business in South Dakota. Applicant is a corporation organized under the laws
of Delaware on September 29, 1999. A copy of Applicant’s Articles of Incorporation is
attached hereto as Exhibit 1. BCGI is in the process of obtaining its certificate of authority
to transact business in South Dakota and will submit a copy to the Commission once the

Certificate becomes available.




b.  20:10:24:02(3)b). Location of principal office in South Dakota and

registered agent. Applicant does not currently have an office within South Dakota. BCGI's

registered agent in South Dakota is:
CT Corporation System

319 S. Coteau Street
Pierre, SD 57501

c. 20:10:24:02(3)(c). Ownership and management interest. BCGI is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Boston Communications Group, Inc., a publicly traded Massachusetts
corporation.

Applicant’s officers and directors are as follows:

Officers
E.Y. Snowden - President
Fritz von Merin - Treasurer
Alan J. BoufT: . Secretary
Directors
E.Y. Snowden

Paul J. Tobin
Fritz von Mering

All officers can be reached at the following address:

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, MA 01801

Telephone: (617) 692-7000

Facsimile: (617) 692-6230

BCGI's management personnel are well qualified to execute its business plan, having
extensive managerial and technical telecommunications experience. Descriptions of the

teleccommunications and managerial experience of Applicant’s key personnel are attached

hereto as Exhibit 2.



4. :10:24:02(4 ip i ion. Applicant is not a partnership.

S. 20:10:24:02(5). Proposed services. Applicant proposes to provide resold intrastate
interexchange telecommunications services to and from all points within the State of South Dakota.
Applicant’s services will be available on a full-time basis, twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7)
days a week. Applicant proposes initially to provide prepaid calling card services only.

6. 20:10:24:02(6). Facilities to be used to provide services. As a resale carrier,
Applicant has not installed nor does it currently plan to install any equipment, plant, or facilities in
the State of South Dakota. In South Dakota, BCGI will resell the facilities-based interexchange
services of certified carmiers, such as Sprint. In the event BCGI subsequently formalates plans for
installing any facilities in South Dakota, it will notify the Commission and comply with all
regulations, as appropriate.

7. 20:10:24:02(7). Geographic area to be served. Applicant plans to provide resold
interexchange telecommunications services to subscribers to and from all points in South Dakota,
and, therefore, secks statewide authorization. Since BCGI seeks to provide statewide authority,
Applicant has not included a map showing proposed service areas.

8. 20:10:24:02(8). Financial qualificationsandtariff. BCGI has access to the financing
and capital necessary to conduct the telecommunications operations as specified in this Application.
BCGl is currently in the start-up phase and does not possess its own financial statements. Therefore,
BCGI requests a waiver of S.D. Admin. R. 20:10:24:02(8).

As a wholly owned subsidiary of Boston Communications Group, Inc. ("Boston
Communications”), BCGI will rely upon the substantial financial resources of its corporate parent.
Therefore, BCGI submits as Exhibit 3 the financial statements of its corporate parent, Boston

Sl




Communications. For the year ending December 31, 1998, Boston Communications had total assets
of approximately $92 million, which exceeded total liabilities of $13 million, providing
stockholders’ equity of $79 million. With access to the substantial financial resources of its parent,
Boston Communications, BCGI is financially well qualified to provide the telecommunications
services proposed in this Application.

A copy of BCGI's proposed tariff containing BCGI's rates and terms and conditions of

service is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.

customer service matters. All inquiries regarding complaints and regulatory, billing and consumer
services matter should be referred to:
Jeffrey McLaughlin
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road
Woburn, Massachusetts 01801
Telephone:  (617) 692-7000
Facsimile: (617) 692-6230
Email: Jeffrey_McLaughlin@boscomm.net
Questions concerning the ongoing operations of BCGI following certification should be
directed to Mr. McLaughlin at the above address.
Customers with service, billing and repair questions or complaints may reach BCGI at its
toll-free customer service number, 1-800-832-4945, for assistance. As a prepaid calling card service

provider, BCGI will not be billing any customers.

10.  20:10:24:02(10). Current authority to provide service. BCGI is in the process of

applying for authorization, where required, to provide intrastate interexchange services nationwide.




BCGI has not been denied authorization to provide service in any state and is in good standing in
every state where it holds such authorization.

11, 20:10:24:02(11) Marketing. BCGI will market its service through a combination of
print media and point-of-presence advertising in markets where Applicant provides prepaid services.
Applicant does not intend to engage in telemarketing or multi-level marketing. Applicant does not
currently have available any marketing materials.

12, 20:10:24:02(12). Cost support. The services that BCGI has proposed herein are

competitive services; therefore, BCGI has not provided cost support for the rates shown in its tariff.

13.  20:10:24:02(13). Federal tax identification number. Applicant’s federal tax

identification number is 04-3488238.

14.  20:10:24:02(14). Slamming and cramming complaints. There are no complaints
against Applicant in any jurisdiction regarding the unauthorized switching of a customer’s
telecommunications provider or the act of charging customers for services that have not been
ordered.

15.  20:10:24:02(16). Otherinformation. The entry of BCGI into the telecommunications
business in South Dakota will serve the public interest by creating greater competition in the
interexchange marketplace and permitting customers to achieve increased efficiencies and cost
savings. BCGI's proposed intrastate services will enhance the services available to consumers and
increase consumer choice through innovative, diversified, and reliable service offerings. Consumers
w?ll benefit both directly as a result of the competitively priced service options available from BCGI

and also indirectly as BCGI's presence increases the incentives for other telecommunications




providers to operate more efficiently, reduce prices, and offer more innovative services. Approval
of this Application, therefore, will serve the public interest.

WHEREFORE, Boston Communications Corp. requests that the South Dakota Public
Utilities Commission grant the requested Application authorizing it to provide intrastate
interexchange telecommunications services in the State of South Dakota.

Respectfully submitted,

Ao - Strelon

C ine Wang, Esq’

J W. Stockman, Esq.

SWIDLER BERLIN SHEREFF FRIEDMAN, LLP
3000 K St., N.W., Suite 300

Washington, D.C. 20007-5116

Telephone: (202) 424-7500

Facsimile: (202) 424-7643

Counsel for BCGI Communications Corp.

Dated: December 23, 1999
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Management Qualifications
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EXHIBIT 1

Certificate of Incorporation and
Certificate of Authority to Transact Business As a Foreign Corporation

BCGI is in the process of obtaining its certificate of authority to transact business and will
submit a copy to the Commission once it becomes available.
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CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
BCGI COMMUNICATIONS CORP.

FIRST. The name of the Corporation is' BCGI Communications Corp.

SECOND. The address of its registered office in the State of Delaware is The Corporation Trust
Company, 1209 Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of
its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.

THIRD The natare of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted by the Corporauon
15 as follows

To engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under
the General Corporation Law of Delsware.

FOURTH. The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have authonity to
issue is 1500 shares of Common Swock. $.01 par value per share,

The number of authonzed shares of Common Stock may be increascd or decreased (but not
below the number of shares theroof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the stock of the Corporation entiticd 10 vote, irrespective of the provisions of Scction
242(b)(2) of the General Corporation Law of Delawarc.

FIFTH. The name and mailing address of the solc incorporator arc as follows:

NAME MAILING ADDRESS

Alaa J. Boulfard Boston Commmmcations Group, Inc.
100 Sylvan Road
Wobum, MA 01301

SIXTH. In furtherance of and not in limitation of powers conferved by statuts, ot is further
provided:

). Election of directors nced not be by written ballot.

2. The Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal the By-
Laws of the Carporation




EXHIBIT 2

Management Qualifications



Managerial and Technical Qualifications of
Key Personnel for Applicant

BCGI possesses the requisite managerial and technical qualifications to render the
proposed telecommunications services

Paul J. Tobin -- Paul has sixteen years experience in the telecommunications and wireless
industry. Paul is one of the founders of the company and has served as Boston Communications
Group, Inc.’s (“Boston Communications”) Chairman since incorporation in 1996. He also held
the position of President from 1990 until February 1996, and then again from April 1997 1o
February 1998. From 1984 until the formation of Boston Communications, Paul was President
of Cellular One Boston/Worcester and Portsmouth, NH. Prior to Cellular One, he was Regional
Marketing Manager for Satellite Business Systems (a joint venture of IBM, Comsat and Aetna).
Paul began his career as a Securities Analyst at Chase Manhattan Bank afer receiving his
undergraduate degree in Economics from Stonehill College and his M.B.A. in
Marketing/Finance from Northeastern University. Paul serves as a member of the Board of
Trustees at Stonchill College.

E.Y. Snowden - E.Y . joined Boston Communications as President in February. Prior to Boston
Communications, E.Y. was President and Chief Operating Officer of American Personal
Communications, L.P. d/b/a Sprint Spectrum, where he was responsible for the successful launch
of the nation’s first Personal Communications Services (PCS) network. Before joining APC/
Sprint Spectrum, he was an Area Vice President at Pacific Bell, Inc. where he was integral in the
plan for Pacific Bell to enter the PCS market through the creation of Pacific Bell Mobile
Services. E.Y. was previously Chief Executive Officer of Universal Optical Company, a
manufacturer and marketer of designer eyewear. He began his career as a Corporate Strategy
Consultant and Manager with the Boston Consulting Group. E.Y. holds a B.S. in Mathematical
Sciences from Stanford University and an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School.

Fritz von Mering - Fritz has been involved with the telecommunications and wireless industries
for fifteen years. Fritz has held the position of Vice President of Finance and Administration
since incorporation. Before joining Boston Communications, Fritz was Regional Vice President
and General Manager for Metromedia's paging division. Prior to Metromedia, Fritz held various
positions at Coopers & Lybrand where he camed his CPA. Fritz has an undergraduate degree in
accounting from Boston College and an M.B.A. from Babson College.




Financial Statements of Applicant’s Parent, Boston Communications Group, Inc.




For the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(X) ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998
OR

() TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 333-4128

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in is Chaner

MASSACHUSETTS
State or Other Junsdiction (IRS Emplover
ot Incorporation or Organization) Idenuficanon No )
190 Sylvan Road, Suite 100, Woburn, Massachusetts Q1801
Address of Pnacipal Executive Office) 1Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number. including area code: (617) 692-7000
Secunuies registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None
Secunues registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock. par value $01 per share

Indicate by check mark whether registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
[5:80 ot the Secunines Exchange Act of 1934 dunng the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter penod that
ne registrant was required to file such reports). and (2) has been subject 1o such filing requirements for the
DJas! W davs

YES_X_ NO___

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to liem 405 of Regulation SK s not
<ontained herein. and will not be contained. to the best of registrant’s knowledge. in definitive proxy or informa-
ton statements incorporated by reference 1n Pant 111 of this Form 10K or any amendment to this Form 10K. | ]

The approvimate aggregate value of the voung stock heid by non-affiliates of the registrant. computed by
reterence 1o the closing sales pnce of such stock quoted on the Nasdaq Nauona! Market on March 1. 1999, was
SI93.316 499 The number of shares outstanding of the Registrant's common stock. $.01 par value per share. as of
March 11999 was 16.352.368.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The tollowing document 1s incorporated by reference in the following pan of this Form 10-K: information required
oy Part 1 (ltems 10, 1. 12 and 13) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated from the
Proxy statement relatng to the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company.




ltem 1. BUSINESS
Background

General

Boston Commumicanons Group. Inc. 1BCGI) 1s the leading provider of prepaid services to wireless camers in North
and South Amenca Taken together with the Company 's innovative roanung services and teleservices. this suite of
offenngs has made BCGI a leading provider of enhanced services 10 the wireless telecommunications industry. The
Company’s Prepaid Wireless Services Division provides U.S and Canadian camers with prepaid wireless senvices
through 1ts C.C* network. which enables camer’s subscnibers (0 use their wireless phone as if they were a post-pay
subscnber. thereby expanding camers’s senvice offenngs 10 new and exisung subscnbers without the added billing
costs and collecuon nsk. The Systems Division markets a voice processing platform with enhanced features for
providing prepaid wireless. voice messaging and fax mail services 10 intenational wireless and wireline camers
The Systems Division also manufactures prepasd systems that are used to suppon the Company's C.C network. The
Company s Teleservices Division provides customer suppor teleservices to wireless camers which allows them to
outsource all or 3 porion of thewr customer service acuvities, and are designed to help wireless camers retain
subscnbers. reduce costs and manage growth. The Company's ROAMERp/us™ Division provides camers with the
ability 1o cost-effectnely generate revenues from subscnbers who are not covered under tradiional roaming agree-
ments by uranging payment for roamung calls and paying camers for the airume used. The required disclosure
information for the reporable operaung segments 15 included in Note 5 of the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements

Wireless telephone senice has been one of the fastest growing areas of the telecommunications industry over the last
thineen vears Currentiy. prepaid wireless 1s one of the fastest growing markets within the wireless industry. The
Cellviar Telecommunications Industny Association ("CTIA™) esimates that the number of wireless subscnbers in the
United States increased from approuimatels 330.000 1in December 1985 10 approximately 61 million in June 1998
Thus represents an increase 1n market penetration from under 15 to over 22% of the United States population. The
CTIA also esumates that aggregate annual service revenues from wireless subscnbers grew from approximately
S482 4 mullion 1n 1987 10 approximately $29 6 bilhon 1n 1998. A number of factors have contnbuted to this growth.
inciuding the build-out of the wireless network infrastructure. the decreasing cost of wireless telephones. the
increasing mobility of the United States population. technological improvements in the size and battery lite of wire-
less telephones and greater acceptance of wireless telephone use. Significant growth in the wireless ielephone market
is expected to continue in the tuture. particularly given the emergence of digital wireless as the most recent form of
wireless service  Industry sources forecast that the number of wireless subscnbers will grow 10 80 mullion by the end
@ e vear 2000, representing 3 market penetration of approximately 305 of the United States population. and esti-
mate that the Jggregate annual services revenue from wireless subscnbers alone will be over $35 billion

The Company was organized as a Massachusetts corporauion in 1988 and introduced its ROAMERp/us roaming
service in 1991 The Company introduced teleservices in 1993 and s prepaid wireless service in 1996, The
Company s svstems were introduced 1n 1996 with the acquisition of Voice Systems Technology Inc. now the
Sustems Division The Company's principal office 15 located at 100 Sylvan Road. Suite 100. Woburn.
Massacnusetts 01801 and its telephone number 15 (617) 692-7000

Description of Business
Prepaid Wireless Services Division

The Company introduced 1ts C.C network-based prepaid wireless service offenng in carly 1996 and was offenng
the service 1n over 150 US. Metropolitan Service Areas (MSA's) which cover more than 70% of the U.S. population
and all major markets in Canada as of December 31. 1998. The Company has become the leading prepaid wireless
senvice provider for wireless camers in the United States and Canada and significantly expanded uts subscnber base
trom 290.000 at December 31. 1997 10 890.000 at December 31. 1998. The average monthly munutes of use per
subscnher were approximately 49 minutes dunng the fourth quanter of 1998

The C.C network permits a wireless camer to automaucally switch a prepaid subscniber’s call 1o The C.C
network where intormation regarding the status of that subscnber’s prepad account 1s mantained. A subscnber
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establishes an account with the wireless camer by prepaving a specific dollar amount to be credited toward tuture
enice Subsequently. each call that is imiuiated or recenved by the subscnber 1§ routed to the C.C network and rated
in real ume based on the telephone number called. camer usage charges. taxes and applicable surcharges. When the
remaining balance 15 reduced to 3 minimal amount. the subscnber 15 able to replenish the account by purchasing ada:-
uonal prepaid senvice from the camer by credit card through C.C's automated replenishment feature or by paying
cash at any of the camer’s affiliated retaul outlets. The C.C network can complete a call and debit the account auto-
matcalls without requinng the subscriber (o enter a debit card number or other information. As a result. a prepaid
subscriber receives senvice substantially sumilar 1o a subscnber using traditional billing arrangements. including the
ability 10 make outgoing and receive incoming calls. as well as roam into other markets. Prepaid roaming can be
done automatically within C.C. via the Company’s C.C service agreements. and through the Company’s

ROAMERp/us service

The C.C network consists of a central computer database linked by a high speed. wide area frame relay network to
geographically distnbuted proprietary call processing subsystems. called voice nodes. Each voice node site 1s
capable of serving more than one camer and consists of a computer controlled telecommunications switch and an
interactive voice response unit that provides high quality personalized voice prompts. These voice nodes are linked
10 the camers’ mobile switching centers via dedicated telephone facilities. The distnibuted node architecture 15
designed to be modular and scaleable. while remaining efficient and cost-effective. The centralized database enabies
prepaid users to make calls while roaming in other service areas where the C.C network 1s in place

Dunng 1998. BCGI expanded the features of its prepaid wireless services to offer addinonal functionality to us
camers and therr prepaid subscnbers  Internatonal dialing capabiliues were added to the system 10 permut prepaid
subscnibers to make calls from within the United States and Canada to countnes around the world. The Passport
teature was also introduced nto the C.C product line. This feature allows subscnibers to use prepaid wireless
services from any prepaid or traditional postpaid mobile phone and select prepaid service on a per-call basis. Other
teatures were added including outbound roamung. automated replemishment options and credit card address venfica-
ton The Company works closely with the camers on an ongoing basis to develop additional features and
tuncuonality 1o expand the capabilies and value of prepaid wireless services. Dunng 1998. the Company upgraded
its nodes and mugrated the prepaid system to an Oracle database platform. These improvements and others dramat-
icaliv enhanced the overall system reliability

The Company signed an agreement 1n 1998 with AG Communication Systems (AGCS) to yountly develop a Wireless
Intelligent Network (WIN) based solution for prepaid wireless service. including prepaid roamung. This new WIN
«watem will take advantage of the call processing efficiency and enhanced feature capabilities of WIN, while
nuilding on BCGI's existing strengths in all areas of prepaid service delivery. The WIN svstem wall allow BCGI 10
snnance the current leatures enjoyved by its camer customers in the areas of raung. reporung. distnbution suppor.
.ustomer care and replemishment. This will enable BCGI to provide a state-of-the-an. full-featured platform to new
. wstomers while allowing 4 smooth migraton for current customers. including roamung capability between WIN and
non-WIN Gvatems The WIN service logic that BCGI and AGCS are developing 1s intended to operate on many
service Control Point (SCP) platforms, providing camers the flexibility to run WIN service logic on their own SCP
piattorm if they Choose

amers compensate BCGI for network usage by contracung at a per minute rate for prepasd subscnber usage based
© connection time between the camer's mobile switching center and the C.C network voice node. The terms of the
mpans s ¢xsting contracts to provide prepaid wireless senvices through the C.C network are generally two or

Tne Company currently provides C.C to several U.S. camers. including AurTouch Commumications. Southwestern
Bell Mobile Svstems. Bell Atlanuc Mobile. Bell South Cellular Corp.. LA Cellular, AT&T Wireless (AWS). Frontier
Cellular Bay Area Cellular. Western Wireless's PCS Division. Aliant Cellular. Dobson Cellular Systems. Inc.. and
southern New England Telephone Corp.. in addition to more than 15 wireless resellers. The Company also provides
prepaid wireless senvices in Canada to Rogers Cantel  As of February 28. 1999 the Company was supporung over
one mulhion prepaid subscnbers on behalf of camers who have deploved a BCGI prepaid system in the United States
Jand Canada




Teleservices Division

The Company began providing telesersices in 1993 in response to the industry’s need for 24-hour. 365 day cusiomer
senvice. The Company's teleservices program allows a wireless camer’s subscriber 10 obtain information on rate
plans. phone operations and service center locauons. as well as instrucuons on roamung features and promotions
Subscnibers also may make billing inquines. ininate address and rate plan changes. and obtain other customer
assistance. The Company's teleservice representatives also assist camers in billing and collections. Most camers
using BCGI's teleservices use these services for off-hours and overflow subscriber support. However. the
Company's services range from narrowly defined. short-term projects to the provision of all of the camer’s customer
service activities. The Company currently provides teleservices to thirty-three wireless customers. Certain wireless
camers that have contracted for the Company's prepaid wireless services have also engaged the Company 1o provide
teleservices for their prepaid subscnbers

The Company provides .ts teleservices from four telecommunications call centers located in the United States
and Canada. The largest call center i1s located at the Company headquarters in Woburn. Massachusetts and has
been in operation since 1996, In March 1998. the Company. in collaboration with the University of
Massachusetis—Lowell. opened its second service center in Lowell. Massachusetts. This service center 1s
located on the campus of the university and provides students the opportunity to leam about call center operauons
while eaming money and scholarships to pay for their education. More than 50% of the current teleservices
representatives at this service center are student employvees of the university. The third telecommunications call
center was opened in Deland. Flonda in August 1998 and employed over 300 personnel as of December 31. 1998.
In December 1998. the Company began to provide services in a fourth call center in New Brunswick. Canada.
The ICT Group. Inc. handles the management and operational functions of this call cenier. in accordance with
company specificauons. BCGI 1s responsible for call routing. initial training and ongoing quality assurance and
mentonng 1o ensure comphiance with the Company 's standards

Each of the Company s facilities 1s designed to provide highly efficient. rapid customer response through the
deploymen: of state-of-the-ant switching technologies with clienUserver architecture and open. automatic call
delnen platforms. Each customer senice representative utilizes database interfaces customized for each camer.
to tacilitate subscriber inquiry response. technical problem resolution. program/feature clarification. on-line
tollow-up and performance reporuing. These customized interfaces can be programmed to give the Company
compiete access 10 a parucular camer’s subscnber databases. Admunistration of call center floor personnel 15
tacilitated by the use of forecasung. scheduling and monitoning systems that allow floor supervisors 1o observe
numerous aspects of the call center’s performance in a graphical format. including information on call duration,
comphiance with contract standards and operator performance.

BCGI has idenufied additional specific teleservices needs in the wireless industry and has developed services to
meet those needs These services allow the camners to better manage the demands of hinng. training. managing
4nd retaining a large number of customer service representatives for specialized service projects that often place
significant increased demands on the capacity of customer service centers. For example. BCGI provides
teleservices support to carners who are currently supporting prepaid subscnbers on the C.C network. BCGI's
wireless-trained representatives are available to effecuvely answer subscnber questions that are not handled by
C © s auiomated customer service applicanon. BCGI also provides special support services to camers including
Jealer support. phone number and NPA-NXX area code changes and third pany venfication services.

Tne Company offers extensive in-house classroom and on-the-job training programs for its teleservices
personnel. including instruction on a full breadth of customer service skills. call handling techniques and service
guatity  In addinon. camer-specific traiming allows the teleservices staff to disseminate informauion on a
particular camer s services. as well as 1o update and edit information in the camer’s databases. BCGI intends to
~ontinue to market and invest in its teleservices technology in order to provide addiuonal service offenngs.

Roaming Services Division

BCGIl's ROAMERp/us roaming service enables wireless camers to cost-effectively generate revenues from
subsCnibers roaming 1n a camer’s service area who are not covered under traditional roaming agreements. These
unregistered roamers attempung to place calls in the serving camer’s termitory are automatically switched to
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BCGI. which arranges payment for the calls. completes the calls and pays the serving camer based on the length
of the call. When an unregistered roamer places a call in the carner’s service area. the camner’s mobile switching
center forwards the call. at the Company’s expense. to the Company’s propnetary digital call processing system
The roamer may complete the call by charging the call to a telephone calling card. a2 commercial credit card. a
prepaid account or as a collect call. A majonty of all incomng traffic 1s iniually handled by an automated call
processing system. which prompts the caller for billing and calling information. The Company's specially trained
service representatives handle all remaining calls, as well as calls requinng additional operator assistance. The
Company s roaming service 1s being used by approximately 95 wireless camers that collecuvely hold licenses for
over 1.100 markets in the United States. Canada and Mexico. BCGI services 8 of the 10 largest wireless camers, by
number of subscribers. in the United States.

In order to implement the Company's ROAMERpl/us service, a camer need only make a munor software change in
its switches. BCGI pays for transport of the calls to 1ts facilities and for completion of the calls. Under uts
agreements with camers. which typically have a term of one year. BCGI pays the serving camer for the airume that
the roamer uses and charges the roamer for the call. The charge for the call appears directly on a telephone or credut
card bill. with BCGI (typically. under the trade name “Wireless Roaming™) as the vendor. ROAMERp/us elimuinates
collecuon and fraud nsk for the camer because BCGI takes responsibility for collection from the customer. The
Company manages this collection and fraud nsk by utlizing its own propnetary and external fraud control systems
as well as validaung the caller’s credit before completing the call. Over the past few vears there has been a decrease
in the suspension of inter-camer roaming agreements due to improved fraud controls implemented by the camers

Svstems Division

The Systems Division delivers prepaid wireless solutions to camers which. when coupled with the Prepaid Wireless
Services Division’s camer customers. makes BCGI the leading provider of prepaid wireless services to camers in
North and South Amenca. The Systems Division sells systems that enable prepaid wireless calling on a wwmkey
basis pnmanly 1o international customers. The Division also markets and sells systems for voice messaging. fax
mail and other enhanced service applications to Onginal Equipment Manufacturers (OEM’s) and wireless and
wireline camers throughout North Amenca

Prepaid svstems have been sold to several customers whose efforts are focused on international prepaid wireless.
including Cable & Wireless. Bell South Wireless International and Celistar. Lid. These customers have operations
throughout the world and have enabled the Company to make significant prepaid system sales in Mexico. Brazil.
\enczuela and several other South Amencan countnes. The Company expects to continue to market and sell uts
sustems through these and other companies to expand prepaid wireless services beyond North and South Amenca.
To support its sy stems and on-going sales efforts in Mexico. in 1997 the Company established a Mexican subsidiary,
BCG de Mewco. S R L. that employs technicians and other support staff throughout Mexico

Engineering. Research and Development

BCGI believes that its future success will depend in large part on its ability to enhance exisung services and develop
new services in response to changing market. customer or technological requirements of the wireless telephone
ndustrs  An important 1actor in the future success of the Company's prepaid wireless service will be the Company's
ability 10 provide. at competiine pnices. more functionality and features than those typically available in other
-ompetitine ottenngs. The Company has developed propnetary software to enable its call processing platform to
nandle custom signaling interfaces to vanous types of wireless switches. specialized call raung requirements of
prepaid wireless services. and interfaces to wireless administranon and management information systems. The
Company 1s developing a number of enhanced services that it intends to make available to prepaid and traditional
subscnbers through the C.C network. [n addition. BCGI's agreement with AGCS to jointly develop the WIN system
1s expected to improve call processing efficiency and provide BCGI the ability 10 enhance the features available to
camers  These enhanced services are intended to be designed to enable camers o generate additional sources of
revenue from subscnbers. to provide camers with more extensive internal reporung capabiliies and help to reduce
camers s telecommunicauons costs.

The Company spent approximately $3.2 million. S5 4 million and $5.5 million on engineening. research and
development in 1996. 1997, and 1998. respectuively. Dunng 1998. the responsibilities of a number of prepaid
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wireless senice personnel were shifted from development and engineenng of the prepaid architecture to the duties
of mantaining and upgrading the C.C network to provide hugh quality performance. This trend 1» expected 10
continue 1n 1999 The Company expects to continue 10 devote significant resources to uts engineenng. research and

development actin iies 1n future years

Sales. Marketing and Distribution

The Compans s sales strategy 1s 10 estabhish and mantain long-term relationships with its customers. The Company
utilizes 2 consultauve sales process 10 understand and define customer needs and determune how those needs can be
addressed by the Company 's services. BCGI seeks to build upon its existing customer relationships by integrating and
cross-selling its different senvice offenngs. The Company ‘s sales cycle vanes for different services and can be up to 12
months for the Company 's Teleservices. Prepaid Wireless Services and Sysiems Divisions.

The Company s sales force consists of sales representauves who generally have significant expenence in the wire-
less industry. erther as former emplovees of wireless camers or in selling products and services 10 wireless camers

The Company typically assigns each sales representative 1o a single group of wireless welephone camers in order to
support the development and maintenance of long-term strategic customer relationships. The sales representatives
are supported by product specific account and service managers who also typically have expenence in the wireless
industry and manage the accounts on a daily basis after the completion of the iniual sale. Most sales representatives
are strategically located in the camers major geographic regions. however. the Company’s marketing and product
management acunities are supported from its Wobumn. Massachusetts facility and from s Tulsa. Oklahoma Systems
Dnision location

The Company s direct sales strategy 1s complemented by a marketing program that includes participation in industry
trade shows. adverusing and public relations. Because the Company's customers are a group of large-scale wireless
camers. the Company seeks to gain wide exposure through carefully selected events and acuwvities specific to the

wireless telephone industry

Product and account management groups have been established for the Prepaid Wireless Services, Teleservices and
Sustems Divisions. Each group focuses on supporting camers’s operational issues. understanding the prepaid
market and providing carmiers with valuable informauon regarding prepaid marketing and subscriber trends.
distribution techmiques and markeung success factors. The Company works closely with the camiers and the
industny to disseminate and integrate this information into their prepaid programs to help generate and retain prepaid
sutsenibers  In addition. the product and account management groups focus on identificaton of new features and

Divinbution o1 prepaid wireless 1s an integral piece of the service because it provides consumers with numerous
.nannels to purchase or replemish prepaid service. The Company conuinues to improve distnibution options for
prepaid cards on behalf of wireless camers by seeking arrangements with national distnbutors, retailers. resellers
and sltermatine channels to increase market penetrauon and exposure. The Company intends to focus more efforts
n 1t markeung program 1n 1999 10 expand awareness of its prepaid product offenng. specifically 1o provide more
Janislance 10 its camer customers in strategically markeung and promoung prepaid services through their sales and
Jistnibution channels

Customers

The Company provides 1ts services to wireless camers and resellers of varying size. expertise and capabilities.
The Company currently provides one or more of its services to approximately 95 wireless camers in the United
States. Canada and Mexico. including 8 of the 10 Jargest wireless camers in the United States.  Histoncally. a
significant portion of the Company’s revenues in any particular penod has been attributed to a limited number of
<ustomers. Net revenues attnbutable to the Company's ten largest customers accounted for approximately 82%.
“5% and 795 ot the Company’s total revenues in 1996. 1997, and 1998. respectively. Amentech Cellular
Services. Bell Atlanuc Mobile. Southwestern Beil Mobile Systems. Bell South Cellular and Airtouch
Communications accounted for approximately 12%. 12%. 11%. 5% and 9%. respectively, of total revenues in
1997 and for 15%. 11%. 10%. 135 and 13%. respecuively. of total revenues in 1998.




For the vear ended December 31. 1998 the Company's Systems Division generated S13.6 million in prepaid and
voice system revenues. Of this revenue. a significant portion represented sales to support prepaid wireless senvice in
sereral South Amencan countnes on behalf of Bell South International Wireless. Inc.

Competition

The market for services to wireless carmers 1s highly competitive and subject 1o rapid change. A number of
companies currently offer one or more of the services offered by the Company. I »ddition. many wireless camers
are providing or can provide. in-house. the services that the Company offers. Trends in the wireless telephone
industry. including greater consolidation and technological or other developments that make it simpler or more cost-
effecuve for wireless camers to provide certain services themselves. could affect demand for the Company’s
services and could make 1t more difficult for the Company to offer a cost-effective alternative 10 a wireless camer’s
in-house capabilities. In addition. the Company anticipates continued growth in the wireless carmer services
industry. and consequently. the entrance of new competitors in the future. BCGI's pnncipal competitor in the
unregistered roaming market 15 National Telemanagement Corporation and in the prepaid network market. Brite
Voice Systems. Inc.. Nauonal Telemanagement Corporation. and GTE Telecommunications Services. Inc. In the
1eleservices market. BCGI competes with a vanety of compames that have inbound and outbound service centers.
The Svstems Division’s pnincipal competitors in the tumkey prepaid and voice processing systems markets include
Comuerse Technology. Inc.. Bnte Voice Systems. Inc. and Cenugram Communicauons Corp

The Company believes that the pnncipal competitive factors in the wireless camer services industry include the
abihity to sdenufy and respond to customer needs. quality and breadth of service offenngs. pnce and technical exper-
tise The Company ‘s ability to compete also depends in part on a number of competitive factors outside its control.
including the ability to hire and retain employees. the development by others of products and services that are
competitine with the Company’'s products and services. the pnce at whauch others offer comparable products and
services and the extent of 1ts competitors” responsiveness 1o customer needs. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be abie to conunue to compete successfully with its exisung competitors or with new competitors.

Government Regulation

The Federal Communications Commussion ('FCC™ ). under the terms of the Communications Act of 1934, as
amended including the Telecommumications Act of 1996, regulates interstate communmications and use of radio
spectrum. including entry. exit. rates and terms of operation. BCGI presently neither operates any facilines
i2ing radio spectrum nor has any facihiies-based services involving interstate communications. Consequently.
« not reguired to and does not hold any licenses or other authonzauons issued by the FCC. However. the
A ireiess camers that constitute the Company's customers are regulated at both the federal and state levels. Such
rezulation may decrease the growth of the wireless telephone industry, affect the development of the PCS market.
imit the number of potential customers for the Company’s services or impede the Company's ability to offer
competiting services to the wireless market or otherwise have a matenal adverse effect on the Company's
nus'ness and results of operauons. At the same ume. the Telecommunications Act of 1996. a deregulatory
measure. may cause changes in the industry. including entrance of new competitors and industry consolidation.
anicn could in turn atfect the Company ‘s cost of doing business or otherwise have a matenal effect on the
Compans « business. financial condition and results of operations.

Emplosees

As of December 31. 1998. the Company had a total of 1.135 full-ume and pan-tume empioyees. Of these employees.
830 serve in teleservices and roamung call center and related funcuons. 174 serve in technical suppont and
tzchnologs and software development. 51 serve in sales. marketing. product and account management and 80 serve
n sdministration and management. In addition. 146 students of the University of Massachusetts - Lowell serve as
representatnes for the Teleservices Division. None of the Company’s employees are represented by a labor union.
The Company believes that its employee relatnons are good.




Backlog

As of December 31. 1998. there was no backlog of firm orders of the Systems Division. The Company includes 1n
backlog only those orders for which it has received completed purchase orders and for which delinery has been
specified within 12 months. Most orders are subject to cancellation by the customer. Because of the possibility of
customer changes in delivery schedules. cancellanon of orders and potential delays in product shipments. the
Company’s backlog as of any parucular date may not be representative of actual sales for any succeeding penod

Item 2. PROPERTIES

The Company leases space at five of its six pnincipal locations: Burlington. Woburn and Lowell. Massachusetts.
Deland. Florida and Mexico City. Mexico. In March 1999 the Company purchased the property at uts Tulsa,
Oklahoma locanon which was previously under lease. The Wobum location serves as one of the call centers for
teleservices and also has separate facilites that house the Company’s network operations center as well as the
Company s executive headquarters. engineenng. sales. human resources and finance personnel. The Burlington site
1s currently utilized for service center operauions for ROAMERplus and houses training faciliues and certain
engineenng personnel. Its operatons are expected to be fully consolidated into the Woburn facility dunng 1999
upon the expiration of the lease in October 1999. The Tulsa facility is used for the manufactunng and assembly of
svstems and houses other Systems Division support funcuons such as engineenng. product management. sales
support and finance. The Mexico City office serves as the headquarters of the techmical service operation in Mexico
The Company has 33 other leased facilites throughout the United States that are used to house the Company 's voice
nodes and certain equipment for the C.C network

The following 1s a hisung of the Company ‘s significant leased faciliues.

Losauon Square Footage Expuanon Daie

Wobum. Ma S8.31S February 2001-October 2003
Burlington. Ma 19975 October 1999

Loweil. Ma 9.000 February 2002

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On November 20. 1997, AWS sent a letter 1o the Company staung that it believes that it is entitled 10 indemnification
trom the Company in respect 10 a cenain claim presently pending 1n a case brought by Ronald A. Katz Technology
Licensing. L P and MCI Telecommumications Corporation agamnst AT&T Corp. in the United States Distnct Coun
tor the Eastern Distnct of Pennsvivania. The letter assents that Count 13 of the complaint. which relates in pan 1o
prepad wireless senice. gives nse 1o an obligation on the pan of the Company to indemnify AWS with respect to
thit count  The amount 1n question 1s undeterruned. The suit against AT&T Corp. was filed on July 8. 1997. The
contract between the Company and AWS pursuant 1o which the Company presently provides prepaid services to
AWS. and upon which AWS’s claim for indemmification 1s based. was not executed unul October 15. 1997. The
Company believes that the claim 1s without ment. To date. no legal action has been brought against the Company.

ltem 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

o matters were submutted to a vote of secunty holders of the Company. through solicitation of proxies or otherwise.
dunng the last quaner of the vear ended December 31. 1998



EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The executne officers of the Company and their ages and positions are as follows:

Name Age Pesition

Paul J Tobin 55 Chairman of the Board

Bnan E. Bovle 50 Vice Chairman

EY. Snowden H President & Chief Executive Officer, Durector
Fredenck E. von Menng 45 Vice President. Finance and Admumstration. Director

Mr. Tobin has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company since February 1996. He also served
as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer from March. 1997 10 February. 1998 and from 1990 until
February 1996. Prior to joining the Company. Mr. Tobin served as President of Cellular One Boston/Worcester from
July 1984 10 January 1990 and as a Regional Markeung Manager for Satellite Business Systems. a joint venture of
IBM. Comsat Corp. and Aetna Life & Casualty from Apnl 1980 to June 1984. Mr. Tobin received his undergraduate
degree in economucs from Stonchill College and hus M.B_A. 1n marketing and finance from Northeastern University.
Mr. Tobin also serves as a member of the Board of Trustees at Stonehill College.

Mr Bovie has served as Vice Chairman of the Company since February 1996 and as Charman. New Wireless
Services of the Company from January 1994 10 February 1996. From July 1990 to September 1993, Mr. Boyile
served as Chief Executive Officer of Credit Technologies. Inc.. a supplier of customer application software for the
wireless telephone industry. Pnor to 1990. Mr Bovie founded and operated a number of ventures servicing the
telecommumications industry. including APPEX Corp. (now EDS Personal Communications Division of EDS
Corporauon. a global telecommunications service company) and Leasecomm Corporation (now MicroFinancial
Corporanon (MFC)). a2 micro-ticket leasing company. Mr. Bovie eamed his B.A. in mathemancs from Amherst
College and tus BS. M.S. and Ph.D. in electincal engincenng and operations research from MLLT. Mr. Bovie 1s
also a Drector of Saville Systems PLC. a provider of customized billing solutions 10 telecommumcanions providers.
and MFC. as well as of several private compames

Mr Snowden has served as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer since February. 1998. Pnor 10
jomning the Company. Mr. Snowden served as President and Chief Operaung Officer of American Personal
Commumicauons. L.P d/b/a Spnnt Spectrum where he oversaw the launch of the Nanion's first PCS network. From
1991 10 1993, Mr. Snowden was Area Vice President. Personal Communication & Intelligent Network Services at
Pacific Bell. Inc From 1988 to 1990. Mr. Snowden was a Pnncipal at Mehta Burkent & Company. Inc. a merchant
nanking firm  From 1986 to 1988, Mr. Snowden was an executive at Universal Opucal Company. Inc. where he held
tne posinons of Chief Executive Officer and President & Chief Operating Officer  Pnor 1o 1986. Mr. Snowden was
smpioved by vanous organizations including The Beta Group. Boston Consulung Group. Inc. and Price Waterhouse
LLP \r Snowden camed his B.S. in Mathemaucal Sciences from Stanford University and hus M.B.A. from
Han ard Graduate School of Business Admimistranon

Mrovon Menng has served as the Company’s Vice President. Finance and Admunistranion since 1989. Prior 1o

ming the Company. Mr von Menng served as Regional Vice President and General Manager for the paging
2vion of Metromedia. Inc .. 2 commumcations company. from 1980 10 1986 From 1975 w0 1979, Mr. von Mening
was emploved at Coopers & Lybrand LLP. Mr von Menng camed hus B.A degree 1n accounting from Boston
“oliege and his M B A from Babson College

£ain officer senves at the discretion of the Board of Directors There are no fanmuly relanonships among any of the
Directors and executive officers of the Company




PARTII

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS

mwwc.-usm

Boston Communications Group. Inc.'s Common Stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market. under the
symbol BCGL mfdmm:nbknﬂecuwmgeofhighmdbwuum;mdmeCmy'sm
stock for the penods indicated.

ji. 4 1928
Hish Law High Lo
First Quarter S718 S318 Si1 1116 S6 178
Second Quarter 15 116 418 1a 6172
Third Quarter 17 14 1214 9178 3mnm
Fourth Quarter 19 812 13 64
Holders
At y 23. 1999. there were approximately 5.000 holders of Common Stock.
Dividends

The Company has never paid a cash dividend on its Common Stock. The Company currently intends to retain all of
its earnings 1o finance future growth and. accordingly. does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foresee-
able future.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The follow ing tables should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and
the notes thercto and with “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results ot

Operations™ appeanng elsewhere in this repont

Year ended December 31,
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Total revenues $ 18334  $34220 $50.651 $68.099 $86.482
Operating income (l0ss) 405 2129 610 (2.389) (3.139)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 288 3.008 599 (1.116) (1.800)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 1.507 (165) —_ — —
Net income (loss) 1.795 2.843 599 (1.116) 11.800)
Net income (loss) available 1o common
shareholders m 1.893 148 (1.116) (1.800)
Basic net income (loss) per common share' 0.24 0.57 0.02 (0.08) (.11
Diluted net income (loss) per common share ™ o 02 0.01 (0.08) 0.1
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and short-term investments 204 253 21421 33.704 25.609
Working capital 1.098 2.082 26433 38.210 37397
Property and equipment. net 2.699 4.884 12.906 38.087 38.055
Total assets 8.867 13.614 51.959 93.385 91.760
- Redeemable preferred stock 14.947 15.896 — — --
Shareholders’ equity (deficit) S(10.591) S(8.698) $42.893 $80.104 $78.658
Dividends per common share — — - e —_

(1) In February 1996. the Company acquired VST for Common Stock and cash with an aggregate value of
approumately S2.5 million.

121In 1995, the Company reversed the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, resulting in a tax benefit of
S1 8 million. In additon. in 1994 and 1995. the Company realized benefits from net operating loss carryforwards
of $382.000 and $840.000. respectively.

13) See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Results of Operations

The Company s total revenues increased 27% from $68.1 million in 1997 10 $86.5 mullion in 1998. The growth was
pnmanly annbutable to a 147% increase in the Company’s principal business. prepaid wireless, and to a 53%
increase in teleservices revenues. pnmarily ansing from increased customer service for camers's C.C customers. A
13% decline in roaming service revenues slightly offset the growth in prepaid wireless and teleservices. In 1997,
total revenues increased 34% compared to 1996 pnmanly due to increases in prepaid wireless and systems revenues.

The Company incurred operating losses for the years ended December 31. 1998 and 1997 totaling $3.1 million and
$2.4 mullion. respectively. compared to operaung income of $610.000 in 1996. Excluding the effects of the loss on
impairment of long-lived assets. the operaung losses for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 would have
been S2.5 mullion and S1.8 million. respectively. The increase in operating losses reflects the increased deprecia-
uon. telecommunication and personnel costs associated with the deployment and operation of the C.C network. The
specifics of each division’s revenues and net operating income (loss) are discussed in greater detail below.

The Company’s reportable operating segments consist of Prepaid Wireless Services. Teleservices, Roaming Services
and Systems Divisions. The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies in Note 2 of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. except
that the financial results for the Company s operating segments have been prepared using a management approach.
This approach 1s consistent with the basis and manner in which the Company’s management internally analyzes
finarcial informanion for the purposes of assisung in making internal operating decisions. The Company evaluates
periormance based on stand-alone divisions operating income (loss) before interest and taxes and allocates corporate
level operating expenses to the operating divisions. Segment disclosure information 1s included in Note S of the
Company’'s Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company s chief operaung decision-maker is 1ts President. The Company’s Divisions. or operating segments. are
muanaged separately because each represents a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves unique
markets within the wireless industry. However. the divisions do complement each other in order to provide the
Company with a strong suite of products and services to meet the needs of wireless camers. The Company’s
customers include eight of the ten largest domesuc wireless camers, six of whom use two or more of the Company's
products




Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

& (continued)

Divisional Data
(1n thousands except for percentages)

Prepaid

Wireess L ming

Services  Teleservices Services Svstens Total
1998
Revenues $18.624 $26.,001 $28.235 S13.622  $86482
Gross margin 8.659 5918 6.364 5.174 26.115
Gross margin percentage 46% 3% 3% 85 30%
Operaung income (loss) (7.236) 393 2962 2 3.149)
Percentage of revenues (39%) 2% 10% & <1%)
1992
Revenues 7539 17.009 32.361 11.090 68.099
Gross margin 1.260 4815 6.754 4.889 17.718
Gross margin percentage 17% 8% 2% us 26%
Operating income (loss) (7.976) 562 1547 478 (2.389)
Percentage of revenues (106%) 3% 4% 4% (4%)
19%
Revenues 312 13413 32.234 4.692 50.651
Gross margin (537) 3331 6.559 216 11469
Gross margin percentage (172%) 5% 20% 5% %
Operaung income (loss) (5.792) 674 4757 971 610
Percentage of revenues (1856%) % 15% 2% 1%
Prepaid Wireless Services Division

Prepaid Wireless Services Division revenues increased from $312.000 in 1996 to $7.5 million in 1997 and increased
148 10 S18.6 million in 1998. Both increases were the result of new camer contracts secured in 1997 and 1998, as
well as exisung camner customers adding new markets to the C.C network dunng both periods. At the end of 1998
there were approximately 890.000 paud subscnibers on the C.C network. as compared to 290.000 subscribers at the
end of 1997. an increase of over 200%.

Gross margins for the Prepaid Wireless Services Division improved from a negative margin in 1996 o0 17% of
revenues 1n 1997 and 46% of prepaxd wireless services revenues in 1998. The improvement in both years resulted
trom the significant increase 1n prepaid wireless services revenues in each of 1997 and 1998. This increase in gross
margins was paruaily offset by increased personnel and related costs incurred to support the growth of the C.C
network

Operaung losses for the Prepaid Wireless Services Division increased 38% from $5.8 million in 1996 10 $8.0
mullion 1n 1997, and decreased 10% to $7.2 mullion 1in 1998. These operating losses have been due to costs
associated with the C.C network. including costs for personnel and for telecommumcations equipment and software.
While the Company expects to continue 1o incur significant capital and personnel costs to support the expansion and
development of the C.C network, the Company also anticipates that increases in prepaid wireless services revenues
will improve the gross margins and operating results of the Prepaid Wireless Services Division in 1999.

Teleservices Division

Teleservices Division revenues increased 27% from $13.4 million in 1996 to $17.0 million in 1997 and increased
53% 10 $26.0 million in 1998. The increases in teleservices revenues were primarily due o new and
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

additional services provided to exisng customers and the addition of new camer customers in 1997 and 1998. A
sigmificant component of these increases was the increase in teleservices revenues from billing inquiry services
provided to the Prepaid Division’s camers. Teleservices revenues from those services were negligible in 1996.
increased 11% to $1.9 million in 1997 and increased 315 to $8.2 million in 1998.

Gross margins for the Teleservices Division increased from 25% of teleservices revenues in 1996 1o 28% of
teleservices revenues 1n 1997, but declined to 23% of teleservices revenues in 1998. The increase from 1996 to
1997 resulted pnmanly from labor efficiencies and other economies of scale as higher teleservices revenues
absorbed more fixed operaung costs. The decrease in gross margins in 1998 was pnmaniy due to incremental
costs in connection with opening three additional call centers in 1998, including training and travel costs
Although the Company anucipates teleservices revenues to increase in 1999, it expects the gross margin from
that division 1o decline compared to the levels achieved in 1998. A significant reason for the gross margin
decline 15 increased costs resultung from the Company s plan to support new business in the Teleservices Division
b »
leasing call center facilines. equipment and personnel from third parties that will be classified entirely in cost of
services. In 1998 and pnior vears. a portion of these costs were classified in depreciation or general and

admunistrative expenses

Operaung income for the Teleservices Division decreased shightly from $674.000 in 1996 10 $562.000 in 1997 and
$393.000 1n 1998 Operaung income for the Teleservices Division represented 5% of teleservices revenues in 1996,
3% 1n 1997 and 2% in 1998. The decreases in each of 1997 and 1998 were pnmanly due to the Company’s
sign:ficant investment 1n call center technology dunng 1997 designed to enhance service offerings as well as

improve operational efficiency

Roaming services revenues remained relauvely flat at $32.2 million in 1996 and $32.5 million 1n 1997 and
decreased 13% to S28.2 mullion 1n 1998. Roamung services revenues remained relauvely constant from 1996 1o
1997, even though there were fewer suspensions of inter-camer automauc roaming agreements by the camers in
1997 as compared to 1996. because the Company expanded the billing options that it offered to camers and
mantauned its market presence. The decrease in roamung services revenues in 1998 was pnmanly attnbutable to
greater suspensions of inter-camer automatic roaming agreements and some cannibalization of unregistered
roaming use by prepaid wireless growth. In addition. 2 consumer’s decision to use the Company's premium pniced
roaming senvice has been adversely affected by an increase in one-rate registered roamung plans offered by some
nauonal camers  The Company anticipates that these trends will continue and. therefore. roaming services revenues
will continue to decrease over ume.

Gruss margins tor the Roamung Services Division improved from 20% of revenues in 1996 10 21% in 1997 and 23%
in 1998 The improsement in both vears resulted pnmanly from enhancement and expansion of automated features
of the senice that reduced labor costs.

Operating income for the Roamung Services Division was relauvely flat at S4.8 million 1n 1996 and $4.5 mullion in
1997 und decreased 33% 10 $3.0 mullion in 1998. The decrease in 1998 was pnmanly a result of lower absorption
i fined Costs as roamung services revenues dechined. The decrease was offset 10 some extent by reduced labor
<osts The Company anucipates that operaung income for the Roamung Services Division will continue to decline
shightly due 10 the anucipated decrease in roaming services revenues.

Syvstems Division

Systems revenues increased | 36% from $4.7 mullion in 1996 1o $11.1 mullion in 1997 and increased 23% 10 $13.6
mulbion in 1998 The increase in 1997 systems revenues was attnbutable to the sale of prepaid systems to an
existing customer in Mexico and 10 new customers in South Amenca. The increase in 1998 was due to further
system sales 1o new and existing customers in South Amenca.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Gross margins for the Systems Division decreased shightly from 45% of systems revenues in 1996 1o 44% in
1997 and further decreased to 38% 1n 1998. The reduction in the gross margin from 1996 to 1997 was pnmanis
due to a change in the mix of the types of systems sold 10 more sales of prepaid systems in proporuion to total
sales. Prepaid systems have a lower margin than voice systems. The decrease in 1998 was pnmanly a result of
increased compeution in the market for such systems that resulted in reduced pnces for the systems. as well as
higher costs associated with installing systems abroad. The trend of selling more prepaid systems in proportion
to total systems sales also continued and. therefore. was an additional factor in tie decrease in gross margin.

Operating income for the Systems Division decreased 515 from $971.000 in 1996 to $478.000 in 1997 and
increased 53% 1o $732.000 in 1998. Operating income for the Systems Division represented 21% of systems
revenues in 1996, 4% of systems revenues in 1997 and 5% of systems revenues in 1998. The decrease in operaung
income in 1997 resulted pnmanly from costs incurred to expand into Mexico and South Amenica. including costs
for sales. development and administrative personnel. international travel expenses. additional development and test
equipiment and increased amortization costs related to goodwill acquired in connection with the purchase of a
subsidiary. Operating income remained consistent as a percentage of systems revenues from 1997 1o 1998.
notwithstanding the decrease in gross margin. because sales and marketing expenses of the Systems Division were
reduced with the consolidauon of one of the division's satellite sales offices into its Tulsa headquarters.

The Company currently prices and sells all of its systems to international customers in U.S. dollars. In addition,
many Systems Division customers are multinational corporations that are publicly traded in the U.S. All payments
are recerved in U S. dollars which helps to protect the Company from the need to hedge against foreign currency nisk.

Operating Data
1S 1n thousands)
1998 " 199

S of S of Sol
Total Revenue Total Revenue Total Revenue
Total revenues $86.482 1005  $68.099 100% $50.651 100%
Engineenng. research and development  5.523 6% 5433 8% 3221 6%
Sales and marketing 5.590 6% 5.089 7% 2949 6%
General and administrative 6.208 7% 3470 5% 2.580 5%
Depreciation and amortization 11.245 13% 5.546 8% 2.109 1%
Impairment of long-lived assets 698 1% 569 1% — —

Engineering. research and development expenses

Engineening research and development expenses pnmanly include the salanes and benefits for software
Jevelopment and engineenng personnel associated with the development. implementation and maintenance of
susuing and new senvices Engineenng. research and development expenses decreased as a percentage of total
revenues from 8% to 6% for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998. respectively. This decrease pnmarily
rsulted trom engineers devoting less time to developing and building out the C.C network infrastructure than they
had 1n the pnor vear and. to a lesser extent. to the changes associated with organizing the Company into uts four
operauing divisions. As a result of the divisional structure. certain semior management personnel changed their
tunctional responsibilibes from engineenng to general management and oversight of the divisions. The Company
intends 1O continue 10 increase its engineenng, research and development expenditures to support future develop-
ment and enhancements of its prepaid and other wireless services and systems.

Engineenng. research and development expenses increased as a percentage of total revenues from 6% 1o 8% in the
vears ended December 31. 1996 and 1997, respectively. This increase was principally due to costs. including
recruiing fees and other personnel costs. associated with the Company s hinng of new personnel to support ongoing
deveiopment and enhancements. implementation and deployment of the C,C network. and 1o a lesser extent.
addiional personnel and related costs to support the expansion of teleservices and system sales.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and markeung expenses include direct sales and product management salanies. commussions. travel and
enterunment expenses. in addinon o the cost of trade shows. adverusing and other promouional expenses. As a
percentage of total revenues. sales and markeung expenses decreased from 7% in 1997 10 6% n 1998. This decrease
resulted pnmanly from revenues absorbing fixed sales and marketung costs that did not increase as rapidly as revenue
growth. In addition. the decrease resulted from the consolidation of the Sysiems Division satellite sales offices 10 the
Tulsa headquarters in 1997 and. 10 a lesser extent. to the changes associated with orgamizing the Company into its four
operating divisions. As a result of the divisional structure. certan semior management personnel changed their func-
nonal responsibiliues from sales and markeung to general management and oversight of the divisions

Sales and marketing expenses increased as a percentage of total revenues from 6% to 75 in 1996 and 1997.
respecuvely. The increase in sales and marketing expenses was pnncipally due to additional expenditures 10 support
the concentrated efforts of the Systems Division to expand mteranonally and the overall growth in sysiem sales
Addiuonal personnel. recruiting. commussions and other costs were also incurred 1in 1997 10 suppornt sales and
marketing effonts 1n the Prepaid Wireless Services and Teleservices Divisions. The Company expects 10 increase
expenditures for sales. marketing and product management in the future to assist carmers with more prepaid
markeung and distnbution efforts as well as expanding systems sales into new geographical markets. Such
expenditures are expected to vary as a percentage of total revenues

Genzral and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include salanes and benefits of employees and other expenses that provide
admunistrative support to the Company. General and admunistrative expenses increased as a percentage of total
revenues from 5% 1n 1997 1o 7% in 1998 The increase resulted pnncipally from the addition of staff to support the
Company s growth and changes associated with organizing of the Company into its four operating divisions. As a
cesult of the divisional structure. certun semior management personnel changed their functional responsibilines
from markeung and engineenng to general management and oversight of the divisions.

Total general and admimistrative expenses were consistent as a percentage of total revenues for 1996 and 1997.
respectively. but increased in absolute dollars from S2.6 mullion 1in 1996 to $3.5 million in 1997. The increase in in
the dollar amount of general and admunistrative expenses in 1997 was pnmaniy attnbutable to additional employees
and related recruiting expenses 1o support the Company’'s growth. along with a full year of costs associated with
being a publicly traded company

Depreciation and amortization expense

Depreciauon and amoruization expense includes depreciauon of telecommunications systems. furmiture and
equipment and leasehold improvements. The Company provides for depreciation using the straight-line method over
the esumated useful Iives of the assets. whuch range from three to seven years. Goodwill related 10 acquisitions 1s
amoruzed over cight vears. Depreciation and amoruzation expense increased more than 100% in 1998 compared to
1997 and 1635 from 1996 10 1997. The increase in 1998 was due pnmanly 1o the depreciation of additonal
rechnical equipment and software to support the rapid expansion and enhancement of the Company’s prepaid
wireless network. These same factors contnbuted to greater depreciation and amoruzation in 1997 compared to 1996.
In additon. the increase 1n 1997 was aunbutable to the amoruzation of goodwill from the Company’s
acquisitons and depreciation of technical equipment and software purchased for the teleservices business.
Depreciation and amortuzation expense are expected to increase in 1999 due to increased capital expenditures for
telecommunications systems. pnmanly related to new features and functionality and the continued expansion of the
C .C network

Impairment of long-lived assets
The Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $698.000 and $569.000 in the years ended December 31. 1998 and
1997, respectively. for 3 wriie-down of assets that are no longer being used to support the Company ‘s operations.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Interest income

Interest income increased from S$589.000 in the vear ended December 31. 1996 to SI.1 million in 1997 and S1.3
million in 1998. Interest income was eamed from investments of the proceeds of the Company’s public offenngs
and was offset shightly by interest expense from the Company's capital leases

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

The income tax benefit of S188.000 for the vear ended December 31, 1997 vielded a 14% income tax benefit. The
income tax expense of $600.000 for the year ended December 31. 1996 vielded a 50% income tax rate. as compared
10 the statutory rate of 40%. The lack of an income tax benefit in 1998, the lower benefit in 1997 and the higher rate
in 1996 resulted pnmarily from the nondeductibility of goodwill from the Company's acquisitions. In addition. the
Company did not provide any additional benefit for net operating losses generated in 1998. The Company's
effecuve income tax rate may be greater than 40% in future vears due to the continued impact of nondeducuble

goodwill

The Company has recorded a net deferred tax asset for net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary
differences based on management’s assessment that it 1s more likely than not that future results of operations will be
sufficient to realize this asset




Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Selected Quarterly Operating Results

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly results of operations of the Company for the eight quarters in
the two vear penod ended December 31. 1998, including such amounis expressed as a percentage of revenues. This
quarterly information is unaudited. has been prepared on the same basis as the audited Consolidated Financial
Statements and. in the opimion of the Company’s management. reflects all necessary adjusuments. consisung only of
normal recurmnng adjustments. necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the penods presented. The
quanerly operating results are not necessanly indicative of future results of operations when read in conjunction with
the audited Consohidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form

10-K

Three months ended
March3l, Jumedd Sept 3. Dec. 31, March 31, Juse 30 Sept 3. Dec. 31,
I thousands . 13 . 1" " . 1998 199 " 19
Revenues
Prepasd wireless services S 790 S 1513 S2S57 S2665 S293 SJ043 S 5010 S ee}7
Telesernvices 3789 4378 4369 4476 4,589 6.226 7.514 7672
Roamung senvices 7.012 8038 9.231 8.160 7.796 7.059 7.097 6.283
System sales 4028 2417 1.882 2793 5.064 jos 1.5847 307
Total revenues 15619 16,353 18033  15.084 20.383 21360 2168 3N
Expenses
Cost of senvice revenues 9419 10882 1195 11925 12,041 12899 13684 13295
Cost of svstem revenues 2630 1.095% 814 1.652 2673 2.180 1.363 At 1
Engincenng. research and development 1.029 1.168 1.593 1.643 1.403 1.176 1426 1.518
Sales and marketung 1.063 1.230 1.358 1438 1.333 1.308 1.387 1.562
General and admunistration 649 824 833 1164 1414 1.469 1.572 1.753
Depre.iauion and amorization 890 1.203 153 1919 2482 2695 2.908 1190
Impairment of long-Ined assets - — - 569 — 698 - —_
Total expenses 15.6%0 16302 18086 20310 28316 22438 30 2359
Operating income 110881 Th 49 53 2.216) 930 (L1165 (LITH 121
interest income 262 138 254 433 386 326 i 306
income (loss) before income taxes 191 86 201 {1782 1547) 839) 840 427
Prosnision benefits for income taves 98 43 100 1429) 1208) - 208 —
Nt ncorse loss 93 43 101 (1L.35) 339 839)  (1.049) 427

Busi. and diluted earmings per share $0.01 $000 S001 S«08) S002) %005 006 S0.03

in Januan 1999, the Company restated its results for the quarnter ended September 30. 1998 for a system sale that should
not have been included in the 1998 results. Total revenues and net loss. as previously reponed. for the quaner ended
Septemper 30. 1998 were $22.8 mullion and $141.000. respectively
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3 (continued)
As a Percentage of Total Revenues

March 31, June 30,  Sept J0. Dec. 31, March 31.  Juse 30. Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

s thowsands | 1" 1" 1§ " 199 1 1998 19
Revenues

Prepand wireless services 5% % 4% 15% 14% 19% % A%
Teleservices p | 27 24 2s 23 2 36 32
Roamung services a5 9 > 45 38 33 3 27
Svsiem sales 26 15 10 15 =3 19 7 13
Total revenues 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

Expenses

Cost of service revenues 60 67 66 66 59 6l 4 56
Cost of system revenues 17 7 s 9 13 10 6 9
Engineenng. research and development 7 7 G 9 6 7 6
Sales and markeung 7 7 ? s 7 6 7 ’
General and admunistration 4 S s 6 7 7 7 /i
Depreciation and amoruzation 6 7 ¥ 1 12 13 ) 14
Impairment of long-lived assets - — — 3 — 3 — —
Total expenses 101 100 100 1n2 105 106 105 9
Operaung income (loss) th 0 (1 5) 6) 5 1
Interest income - I 1 - - 3 | 1
Income 1loss) before income taxes 1 1 1 (10 3) 4 ) e
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 0 0 0 2) th — 1 0

Net income «loss ) 1% 1% 1% % 2% % % 2%

The Company has expenenced fluctuations in its quarterly operating results and anticipates that such fluctuations
will continue and could intensify. The Company ‘s quarterly operating results may vary significantly depending on a
number of factors. including the uming of the introduction or acceptance of new services offered by the Company or
its competitors. changes in the mix of services provided by the Company. changes in regulations affecting the wire-
less industry. changes in the Company s operating expenses, personnel changes. and general economuc conditions.
In parucular. the Company’s roaming services revenues are affected by the frequency and volume of use of the
Company s services. which may be influenced by seasonal trends. as well as changes in demand dunng parucular
penods due 10 a hugher or lower incidence of temporary suspension of intercamer roaming agreements in certain
markets. Teleservices revenues may be influenced by the requirements of one of more of the Company’s significant
teleservices customers. including engagement of the Company to implement or assist in implementing special
projects of limuted duration. The tmung of orders and the number of large prepaid systems shipped dunng a partic-
lar quanter may fluctuate based upon the needs of prepaid systems customers and can have a significant impact on
the level of Systems Division revenues

Because a significant portion of the Company ‘s operating expenses are commutted in advance, the Company may be
unable 10 adjust spending in 2 umely manner to compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall. Accordingly.
unexpected revenue shortfalls could cause significant vanations in operating results from quarer to quarer and
could have 3 matenal adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. As a result. the Company believes that
penod-to-penod compansons of its results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied
upon as an indication of hikely future performance.

Dunng 1998, the Company made significant investments in personnel and infrastructure 10 support the ongoing
development. expansion and upgrading of the C.C network. These strategic investments have impacted eamings
and the Company expects that these strategic investments will continue to impact eamings in the short-term.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash. cash equnvalents and short-term investments decreased from $33.7 mullion in 1997 1o $25.6 mullion in 1998
The decrease was due pnmanly to additional capital expenditures to support expanded features and growth of the
Company ‘s C.C network. Net cash provided by operations of $3.2 million in 1998 was pnmanly generated from
S$11.2 mullion n depreciation and amoruzation expense. which resulted from the sigmificant investment in telecom-
municatons svstems and equipment in 1998. Depreciation and amoruzation was offset mostly by increased
accounts recenable and imventory balances due to the increased sales volume in 1998

The Company s invesung actvities utilized $7.5 mullion of net cash in 1998. The Company expended S10.5 million
in 1998, including almost $7 mullion for welecommunications systems equipment and software for expansion of the
Company’s C.C network. These expenditures were offset by $3.0 million in net sales of short-term imvestments
The Company anucipates that over the next |12 months it will continue to make significant capital investments for
addimonal equipment and enhanced feature capabilities to strengthen prepaid wireless services.

The Company s financing activities utlized $773.000 in 1998. mainly due to payments of capital lease obligations.
offset by proceeds from exercise of stock opuons. In addition. the Company repurchased 55.000 shares for
$301.000 i1n accordance with a plan approved by the Board of Directors. These shares are being held by the
Company as treasury shares

The Company believes that its short-term investments and the funds anticipated 10 be generated from operanons
would be sufficient to finance the Company ‘s operauons for at least the next 18 months

Year 2000

The Company 1s currently implementing enterpnse-wide project and test plans to ensure that all products. services
and support systems can fully process date/ime data before. dunng. and after midnight. December 31. 1999,
recognize the vear 2000 as a Leap Year and mantan exisung interoperability and interfaces with other devices
already in use without any modifications or changes in operations. The Company 1s assessing its readiness by

1+ Conductuing comprehensive inventones of all hardware. software. telecommunications providers. and
material third panty relanonships.  Thus stage 15 nearly complete and the process will conunue 10 be
updated dunng 1999

21 Seeking comphance ceruficauon from ecach vendor through direct commumicanon. The Company 18
conducung unil. regression. interoperability, and call flow tests wherever possible. Dedicated resources.
including semor level management and paid consultants. manage this comprehensive effont

1. Implementing test plans that are supported by doctorate level techmical consultants and dedicated QA
equipment and personnel that are examiming muluple stauc and rollover date scenanos. Tesung 1s
projected 1o be completed by June 30. 1999

The assessment process follow s a method to focus on vendors/products that are most sigmificant to the Company's

perations with the intent 1o maximuze the lead-ume should any 1ssues anse.  For anv systems that may need
replacement. the Company will take the necessary steps (0 obtain. test and install qualified sysiems to ensure umely
Year 2000 comphiance

In June 1998, the Company completed the re-wnite. redesign and implementation of us C.C prepaid system. The
Company s development team devoted nearly one vear to produce the necessary changes and included Year 2000
readiness as part of this process. Additionally. desktop hardware and software. call distnbution systems and
customer service handiing software are 90% Year 2000 ready today. To ensure Year 2000 readiness. the Company
intends 10 upgrade these systems through vendor provided Year 2000 patches or purchases of new systems in the
normal course of business dunng 1999. Core business teams for all divisions expect to examune all internal and
external support sysiems including facilines. finance and human resource components. The Company has
completed a comprehensive on-site physical inventory and upgrade of all of its C.C nodes. of which Year 2000
readiness was a component. The remedial action required as a result of this inventory is munimal and expected to be
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(continued)

implemented by September 30. 1999. In addiuon. BCGI has identified 40 UNIX servers that require upgrades 1o be
ready for Year 2000. All necessany software has been obtained and the project is expected to be compieted by June
30. 1999

The Company licenses some of the software used to support the Company s services from only one source and these
sources are small corporations. The Company 1s testing the software of such sources and expects to receive updates
from these sources 10 achieve Year 2000 readiness. In the event that any of these sources are not ready by June 30.
1999, the Company will establish contingency plans to ensure there will be no adverse impact on operations. The
Company has hcensed the source code from one such vendor 10 aid the Company in Year 2000 readiness testing
efforts for the ROAMERpius service

In March 1999 the Company s Systems Division completed testung of 1ts prepad platform in use in several interna-
uonal markets and found that it was Year 2000 ready with no failures

The Company 1s fully dependent on the senvices of muluple telecommunications providers. [f these providers fail 1o
deliver these senvices. the Company would be vuinerable 1o senous service failures and be exposed 10 hability to
customers and third parties. including the potenual for significant lost revenue. The Company 1s communicating
with all providers in order 10 assess this nsk.  Additonally. the Company will evaluate contingency options 1n the
event of a falure by such providers The Company has not currently developed anv contingency plans for the
services of these providers  In the event that tests reveal fadlures that cannot be remedied withun the Company s
umetable for readiness. coningency plans will be established

The Company has spent sigmificant amounts in research and development of its C.C prepaid service system to
ensure 11 1s Year 2000 ready.  In addwuon. through December 31. 1998 the Company has incurred and expensed
approumatels S230.000 in pavroll. benefit and consulting costs for dedicated resources related 10 Year 2000 1ssues.
The Company currently esumates addinonal costs of approximately 5660.000 wili be mcurred 1in 1999 10 resolve
Year 2000 1ssues. The Company anucipates that the amounts and resources utilized 1o achieve Year 2000 readiness
wili not delay or reduce the resources available 10 complete other projects.

The costs to complete Year 2000 analvsis and remediation are based on management's best esumates. which have
heen determined through numerous assumptions about future events including the availability of resources and other
1actors. However. there can be no assurances that these esumates will be achueved and actual results could differ
matenally from those anucipated  Speaific factors that could generate significant negative consequences include
undetected errors or defects of third party hardware and software utitlized in the Company’'s operauons.
noncompliance of other providers (phone service. electncity. other utihiies. eic ) and other uncenainties.  Although
management Joes not expect Year 2000 ssues to have 2 matenal impact on its business or results of operations.
there Can be no assurance that there will not be nterruptions or other hmutations of system functionality.

Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results

This Annual Repon contans forward-looking statements that involve nsks and uncertamnties. including without
imitation. statements regarding improvement of Prepaid Division gross margin and operating resuits. Teleservices
revenue and gross margin. trend of decreased suspensions of inter-camer automatic roaming agreements. prepaid
<anmibalizaton of unregistered roaming and camer marketing of one-rate registered roaming plans 1o reduce
roaming senvice revenues. Roamung Division profitabuity declining due to decreasing revenue. increased
sxpeaditures for engineenng. research and development. increased expenditures for sales. marketng and product
management. greater costs of depreciation and amortuization and an effecuve income tax rate greater than 40%. The
Company s actual results may differ sigmificantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. A
number of important factors exist that could affect the Company’'s future operaung results. including. without
limutanon. technological changes i the Company ‘s industry. the abulity of the Company 10 continue 10 successfully
support its C.C network. the abulity of the Company's camer customers to successfully continue 10 market and sell
C.C prepaid wireless services. the Company’s ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers.
increased competiion and general economuc factors



Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Histoncally. a significant portion of the Company’s revenues in any parucular penod have been attnbutable 10 a
limited number of customers. This concentration of customers can cause the Company’s revenues and eamings 1o
fluctuate from quarter to quarter. based on the volume of call traffic generated through these customers. the services
being performed for the teleservices programs and the level of system sales. A significant decrease in business from
any of the Company’s major customers, including a decrease in business due to factors outside of the Company’s
control. would have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s business. financial condition and results of
operations.

A number of the Company s Prepaid. Teleservices and Systems Division contracts have been extended bevond their
expiration dates or will expire in 1999 and beyond. There can be no assurances that the Company will be
successful in renewing any of these contracts. If these contracts are not renewed the Company's business. financial
condition and results of operations could be matenally adversely affected.

The Company has expenenced fluctuations in its quarterly operating results and anticipates that such fluctuations
will continue and could intensify. The Company expenenced an operating loss in 1997 and the first three quarters
of 1998. pnmanly due to expenses associated with the development and expansion of its C.C network. The
Company’s quanterly operating results may vary significantly depending on a number of factors including. the
umung of the introduction or acceptance of new services offered by the Company or its competitors. changes in the
mux of services provided by the Company. vanations in the level of system sales, changes in regulations affecung
the wireless industry. changes in the Company ‘s operating expenses. the ability to identfy. hire and retain qualified
personnel and general economic conditions. Due (o all of the foregoing factors. it 1s possible that in some future
quanter the Company s results of operations will be below prior results or the expectations of public market analysts
and investors. In such event. the pnice of the Company’s Common Stock would likely be matenally and adversely
affected

The Company histoncally has provided its services almost exclusively to wireless camers. Although the wireless
telecommunicauons market has expenenced significant growth in recent years. there can be no assurance that such
growth will continue at similar rates. or at all. or that wireless camers will continue to use the Company s services
The Company expects that demand for 1ts roaming services will continue to decline as fewer inter-camer roaming
agreements are suspended. prepaid canmibalizauon of unregistered roaming use increases and carmers more
trequently offer one-rate roaming plans In addition. prepaid wireless and PCS services are relatively new services
in new markets. and if these markets do not grow as expected or if the camers in these markets do not use the
Company s senvices. the Company s business. financial condition and results of operations would be matenally and
Jdversely aftected

The Compans s future success depends, n large part. on the continued use of its existing services and systems,
the cceptance of new services in the wireless industry and the Company’s ability to develop new services and
svatems or adapt existing services or systems to keep pace with changes in the wireless telephone industry
Further. o raprd shuft away from the use of wireless in favor of other services. could affect demand for the
Company s service offerings and could require the Company to develop modified or alternative service offenings
to address the particular needs of the providers of such new services. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful in developing or markeung its existing or future service offenings or systems in a
tumels manner. or at all

The Company 1s currently devoung significant resources toward the support and enhancement of its prepaid
wireless senvices and svstems 1o maintain system reliability and expand the C.C network. Several of the Company’s
Jamer customer contracts contain penalty clauses that provide for reductions in revenue for certain network
outages. There can be no assurance that the Company will successfully support and enhance the C.C network
ettectinely 1o avoud system outages and any associated loss in revenue, that the market for the Company's prepaid
senvice will continue to develop. or that the Company’s C.C network will successfully suppon current and future
growth  Furthermore. the Company has expended significant amounts of capital 1o support the C.C agreements it
has secured with its camer customers. Because C.C revenues are pnincipally generated by prepaid subscriber
munutes of use. the Company’s C.C revenues can be impacted by the camer’s ability to successfully market and sell
prepaid services. In addition. teleservices revenues associated with billing inquiry support for C.C camer
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

Histoncally. a significant portion of the Company’s revenues in any particular penod have been aunbutable 1o a
limited number of customers. This concentration of customers can cause the Company's revenues and eamings to
fluctuate from quarter to quarter. based on the volume of call traffic generated through these customers. the services
being performed for the teleservices programs and the level of system sales. A significant decrease in business from
any of the Company's major customers. including a decrease in business due to factors outside of the Company’s
control. would have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s business. financial condition and results of

operations.

A number of the Company s Prepaid. Teleservices and Systems Division contracts have been extended bevond their
expiration dates or will expire in 1999 and beyond. There can be no assurances that the Company will be
successful in renewing any of these contracts. If these contracts are not renewed the Company's business. financial
condition and results of operations could be matenally adversely affected.

The Company has expenenced fluctuations 1n its quarterly operating results and anticipates that such fluctuations
will conuinue and could intensify. The Company expenenced an operating loss in 1997 and the first three quarters
of 1998. pnmanly due to expenses associated with the development and expansion of its C,C network. The
Company s quanerly operating results may vary significantly depending on a number of factors including. the
umng of the introduction or acceptance of new services offered by the Company or its competitors. changes in the
mux of services provided by the Company. vanations in the level of system sales, changes in regulations affecung
the wireless industry. changes in the Company s operating expenses. the ability to identify. hire and retain qualified
personnel and general economic conditions. Due to all of the foregoing factors, it is possible that in some future
quarter the Company 's results of operations will be below pnor results or the expectations of public market analysts
and investors. In such event. the pnce of the Company’s Common Stock would likely be matenally and adversely
affected

The Company histoncally has provided its services almost exclusively to wireless camers. Although the wireless
telecommunications market has expenenced significant growth in recent years, there can be no assurance that such
growth will conunue at similar rates, or at all. or that wireless camers will continue to use the Company 's services
The Company expects that demand for 1ts roaming services will continue to decline as fewer inter-camer roaming
agreements are suspended. prepaid cannibalizauon of unregistered roaming use increases and camers more
trequently offer one-rate roaming plans. In addition, prepaid wireless and PCS services are relauvely new services
in new markets. and if these markets do not grow as expected or if the camers in these markets do not use the
Company s senvices. the Company ‘s business, financial condition and results of operations would be matenally and
adversel aftected

The Compans s future success depends. in large parn. on the continued use of its existing services and systems,
the accepiance of new services in the wireless industry and the Company’s ability to develop new services and
svslems or adapt existing services or systems to keep pace with changes in the wireless telephone industry.
Further. 2 rapid shift away from the use of wireless in favor of other services. could affect demand for the
Company s service offenings and could require the Company to develop modified or alternative service offenings
to address the particular needs of the providers of such new services. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful in developing or marketing 1ts existing or future service offenings or systems in a
Limels manner. or at all

The Company 15 currently devoting significant resources toward the support and enhancement of its prepaid
wireless services and systems (0 maintain system rehiability and expand the C.C network. Several of the Company's
camer customer contracts contain penalty clauses that provide for reductions in revenue for certain network
outages. There can be no assurance that the Company will successfully support and enhance the C.C network
ettectively 10 avoud system outages and any associated loss in revenue, that the market for the Company’s prepaid
senvice will continue to develop. or that the Company’s C.C network will successfully suppon current and future
growth Furthermore. the Company has expended significant amounts of capital to suppon the C,C agreements it
has secured with its camer customers. Because C.C revenues are principally generated by prepaid subscniber
munutes of use. the Company’s C.C revenues can be impacted by the camer’s ability to successfully market and sell
prepaid services. In addition. teleservices revenues associated with billing inquiry support for C,C camer
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
{continued)

customers are becoming a more significant poruion of teleservices revenues and therefore these revenues are depen-
dent upon the size and growth of the C.C subscniber base.

The Company has expanded its operations rapidly. creaung significant demands on the Company’s admumistratve.,
operational. development and financial personnel and other resources. In addition. the growth of the Company’s
Teleservices Division 1s dependent on recruiung, tramning and retaiming employees to perform customer services
responsibiliies.  Teleservices has also recently outsourced a small poruon of its call center operations to a third
party vendor who 1s responsible for certain operational funcuons. including hinng. tramming and retaiming
employees. There can be no assurance that the vendor will continue to be able to meet the Company s existing and
future needs effecuvely. Additional expansion by the Company may further sirain the Company’s management.
financial and other resources. There can be no assurance that the Company’s systems, procedures. controls and
existing space will be adequate 10 support expansion of the Company’s operations. If the Company s management 1s
unable to manage growth effectively. the quality of the Company’s services. its ability 10 retan key personnel and
its business. financial condition and results of operations could be matenally and adversely affected.

The Company currently pnices and sells all of 1ts systems to international customers in U.S. dollars. In addinon.
many Systems Division customers are multinational corporations that are publicly traded in the U.S. All payments
are received in U.S. dollars which helps to protect the Company from the need 1o hedge against foreign currency
risk. While these provisions serve to protect the Company from accounts receivable losses. there can be no
assurances that systems sales to foreign countnes will not result in losses due to devaluation of foreign currencies or
other international business conditions outside of the Company s control.

The market for services to wireless carmers 1s highly compeutive and subject to rapid change. A number of
companies currently offer one or more of the services offered by the Company. In addition. many wireless camers
are providing or can provide. in-house, the services that the Company offers. In addition. the Company anticipates
conunued growth and competition tn the wireless camer services industry and consequently. the entrance of new
compeutors in the future. An increase in competition could result in pnce reductions and loss of market share and
could have a matenal adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The Company’s success and ability to compete i1s dependent in part upon its propnetary technology. If unauthonzed
copying or mususe of the Company s technology were to occur to any substantial degree. the Company’s business.
financial condition and results of operations could be matenally adversely affected. In addition. some of the
sorware used to suppon the Company's services 1s licensed by the Company from single vendors. which are small
corporations. There can be no assurance that these suppliers will continue to license this software to the Company
or it any supplier terminates its agreement with the Company. that the Company will be able to develop or
otherwise procure software from another supplier on a umely basis and at commercially acceptable pnices.

The Company 's operations are dependent on its ability to maintain its computer, switching and other telecommuni-
caunons equipment and systems in effecuve working order and to protect its systems against damage from fire.
natural disaster. power loss. telecommunications failure or similar events. Any damage. failure or delay that causes
interruptions in the Company s operations could have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s business. finan-
<1al condition and results of operations.

The Company 1s acuvely addressing the concemns of its operations with respect 1o Year 2000 i1ssues. Company
management. with the assistance of consultants. 15 implemenung an enterpnse-wide project 10 identify systems,
equipment. vendors and customers that may be affected by the Year 2000 issues and 10 develop a comprehensive
plan to be in compliance with the Year 2000 1ssues pnor December 31. 1999. The Company expects 10 make the
nec.ssary changes to be Year 2000 compliant. but there can be no assurances that the Company will adequately
ider:uufy all Year 2000 issues and the associated costs and expenses in a umely manner. Also. there can be no assur-
ance that such costs and expenses will not have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s business. financial
condition and results of operations.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company currently pnces and sells all of its systems 10 international customers in U.S. dollars. In addiuion.
many Systems Division customers are multinational corporations that are publicly traded in the U.S. All pavments
are received in U.S. dollars which helps 1o protect the Company from the need to hedge against foreign currency
nisk. While these provisions serve to protect the Company from accounts receivable losses. there can be no assur-
ances that sysiems sales to foreign countries will not result in losses due to devaluation of foreign currencies or other
international business conditions outside of the Company s control.

The Company does not believe that there 1s any matenal market nsk exposure with respect 1o dervative or other
financial instruments which would require disclosure under this item.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary data are includ-d as part of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K

Report of Independent Auditors . . : : B Lo s we oma ey 5N
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31. 1998 and 1997 SR R IR R Ry L
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the vears ended December 31. 1998, 1997 and 1996 . .26

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Preferred Stock &
Shareholders” Equity for the vears ended December 31. 1998. 1997 and 1996 ............... 27

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the vears ended December 31. 1998. 1997 and 1996 .28

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements e - R piprg 2




Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
1998 1997
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $18.523 $23.601
Short-term investments 7.086 10.103
Accounts recetvable. net of allowance for billing adjustments and

doubtful accounts of $1.508 n 1998 and S1.304 in 1997 18.432 12,445
Invemory 3528 1.550
Deferred income taxes 1.564 1.564
Prepaid expenses 823 630

Total current assets 49953 49.893

Propenty and equipment:
Telecommunications svstems & software 47501 36.346
Fumiture and fixtures 2264 1.984
Leasehold improvements 2127 1.725
Svstems in development 4305 5.955
56.497 46.010
Less allowance for depreciation and amortization 18.442 7923
38.055 38.087
-Goodwill. net 3460 4.067
Other assets 292 _1.338
Total assets $91.760 $93.385
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current habilities:
Accounts payable $ 884 $2.786
Accrued expenses 10,124 7.304
Income taxes payable 49 466
Current matunties of capital lease obligations 1.052 1.127
Total current habilines 12556 11.683
Caputal lease obligations. net of current matunties 536 1.598
C ommitments and conungencies
Shareholders” equity
Preferred Stock. S.01 par value, 2.000.000 shares authonzed.

none 1ssued and outstanding - —
Common Stock. voung. par value $.01 per share. 35.000.000 shares authonzed.

16.436.028 shares in 1998 and 16.273.947 shares in 1997 issued 164 163
Addinonal paid-in caputal 91.683 91.029
Treasury Stock (101,420 shares in 1998 and 46.420 shares in 1997 at cost) (673) 372
Accumulated deficit (12.516) (10.716)

Total shareholders” equity 78658 80.108
Total liabilies and shareholders’ equity $91.760 $93.385

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Operations

* (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
— Year Ended December 31,
1998 1997 19%
REVENLUES:
Prepaid wireless services $18.624 S 7539 $ 32
Teleservices 26,001 17.009 13413
Roaming services 28235 32361 3224
Svstem sales 13.622 11.090 4.692
86,482 68.099 50.651
EXPENSES:
Cost of services revenues 51.919 44.180 36.606
Cost of system revenues 8.8 6.201 2.576
Engineering. research and development 5523 5433 3221
Sales and marketung 559 5.089 2949
General and admumstrative 6,208 3470 2.580
Depreciation and amoruzation 11.245 5.546 2109
I rment of -lived assets 698 569 —
8$9.631 70.488 50.041
Operaung income (loss) (3.149) (2.389) 610
Interest income 139 1.085 589
Income (loss) before income taxes (1.509) (1.304) 1.199
Provision (benefit) for income taxes - (188) 600
Net income (loss) (1.500) (1.116) 599
Accreuon of dividends on redeemable preferred stock — —_ (3451)
Net income (Joss ) available 10 common shareholders $ (1.500) Si1.116) S 148
Basic net income (loss) available to common shareholders:
‘Net income (loss) $ 10D S (0.08) S 002
Shares used in computing basic net income (1oss ) per share 16274 14.007 8.352
Diluted net income (loss) available to common shareholders:
Net income (loss) $ 0.1 S 008 S 001
Shares used 1n computing diluted net income (loss) per share 16.274 14.007 10.884

See accompanving notes




Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Equity

¥ (In thousands, except share amounts)
Shareholders ' Eguity
Accreben
of Divi- Totad
A ey e Share
Rrdeomably (eovervie tonal Redoomable Accam  bolders'
Preferred Seack Treasury Seock  Preferved Steck Commeo Stock Puidin Preferred cisted Equuty
Shares  Dollars Shares Deoflers  Sharss  Deflary Shares  Dellars 2 Stack Deficit (Deflcity
Balance 2 lasany 1 1998 ST S14we - e 850 S1 335988 $3 S 1016 S0 ST Sl
Comeruon of Com crutee
Proremrl Sanca - - - - O h S 004 608 b T —_ - -
ALreuoe of &0 udends on
Redermatie Preverred Sech - a5 - - - - — - - w5h - U
Reaemouon of Redeematee
Preverred St and
Larraed Dvoadends JISTH 6T - - — — - — — 4% 76 -
fsance o Commoe Seact - - - — - - 418398 4 §1.748 - - ) B
Exerine ot Common
Sk Opeoes - — - - — - s 2 » - - -
Treaon Suh Purchose - - #4N " o R L AL, 5 L = s =,
et mome - - - - - - - - - ~ “« -
Bulance & Decemper 5| 1988 -— - 40 0% pad - - 11748 [ Do o™ - TS s
lvgance of Commaon Stoch - - - - — - 3.000.000 0 MNow — - 5%
Everore ot Commoe Saxch
Uptsons - - - - - — 8690 6 e M - - am
vsaanie of Common Seock
L nder Empiover Sia
Parinae P - - - - - - 9568 - 0 - - 0
Ngt b — - - — - — - — — - 1116 o1&
Buiaaie 3 Decemter 11 107 - - #3 3™ - - 16273547 163 9109 - 0TIy 0
Everiie o Commoe Saxh
e - - - - - — 143488 !  } 2 - - o
- - - — - - 18593 - . - - L
T - - $5.000 0h - - - - - - - Jon
- - - - - - - — —~ — + 1. 500 + 1 500y
Baam.s . L gmage i 1NN e S | L R T 3 1 — $— 16436028 SI6d 591683 $ —  SilSien  $TeeSM

See sccompanving notes




. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
A (In thousands)

Year Ended December 31.
1998 1997 1990
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $ (1.800) S (1.116) S 59
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used ) operating acuvities:
Depreciation and amortization 11245 5.546 2.109
Deferred income taxes —_ (230) 366
Impairment of long-lived assets 698 569
Changes in operaung assets and liabiliues. excluding effects of
business acquisitions:
Accounts recenable (5.987) (1.385) 13.208)
Inventory (1.97%5) (361 1128
Prepaid expenses and other assets s (sh 5% ol
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 918 1.513 5§24
Income taxes pavable 3» (23 (297)
Net cash provided by (used in) operations 31% 4.362 (1.482)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of businesses. net of cash acquired — (1.398) (846)
Purchase of short-term investments (14.99%5) (12.976) (26.937)
Sale of shor-term investments 17112 2337 6439
Purchase of property and equipment (10.516) (28.552) (8.093)
Net cash used in investing activities (74%9) (19.555) 129437
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 573 2,488 28
Proceeds from 1ssuance of stock 82 35.839 49.787
Repurchase of redeemable preferred stock —_ — (16.337)
Purchase of treasury stock (301) —_ (372)
Repavment of capual lease obligations (LI1ZD (456) (1.507)
\et cash provided by (used in) financing activities (773) 37.871 31.589
Increase idecrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5078) 22678 670
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear 23.601 923 253
Cash and cash eguivalents at end of vear $ 18.523 S 23.601 S 923

S¢e accompanyving notes




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company

Boston Communicanons Group. Inc. (the Company) develops. markets and provides specialized prepaid wireless
services. teleservices. and roaming services (o the wireless telephone industry. The Company also manufactures
prepaid and voice sysiem equipment.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognition

The Company eams revenues by providing teleservices customer care support. processing prepaid wireless calls and
processing wireless calls for unregistered wireless subscribers who have roamed outside of their service area.
Revenue is recognized when the service is provided and is recorded net of esumated billing adjustments. The
Company recognizes revenue from the sale of systems at the ume the systems are shipped.

Principies of Consolidation

The financial statements include 1005 of the accounts and operations of the Company and all of its majonty-owned
subsidianes. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

_ The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a matunty of three months or less at the date of purchase
to be cash equivalents.

Investments

The Company accounts for its marketable securiies under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
115 “Accounting for Certain Instruments in Debt and Equity Secunuies.” The Company has classified all of s secu-
nues as available-for-sale. and are thus reported at fair market value.

Imestments with matunues between three and twelve months are considered short-term investments. The
Company ‘s short-term investments are invested in COrporate notes.

Estimates
Vhe preparanion of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting pninciples requires
management 10 make estumates and assumpuions that affect the reporied amounts of assets and habilines. the disclo-

sure of conungent assets and habthities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses dunng the reporung penod. Actual results could differ from those esumates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s prepaad wireless services allows camers. throughout the United States and Canada. 10 access the
Company ‘s prepaid C.C platform. enabling the camners to offer prepaid wireless calling to their subscribers.
Accounts are not activated until payment 1s received by the camer. Teleservices are provided 1o wareless camers
acated throughout the United States and Canada. The Company’s roaming customers are individuals who place
aireless calls from service areas. which are not covered by traditional roaming agreements. These calls are
forwarded by wireless camers 1o the Company for processing. Each transaction is small in size and the Company
mimimuzes credit nsk by validating appropnate billing information. The Company sells its voice systems in North
Amenca and its prepaid systems in North and South Amenca.

The Company has roaming. teleservice and prepaid wireless service agreements with, and sells its systems to
numerous camers. Dunng the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996. the Company’s top 10 customers
accounted for 79%. 75% and 82% of the Company’s total revenues. respectively. The following table summanzes
sales in excess of 105 of woial revenues only. as a percentage of total revenues. 1o major customers:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)
December 31.

1990 1997 1998
Amentech Cellular (T.R) 15% 12% 15%
BellSouth Cellular Corp. (P.T.R.S) 13 — 11
AirTouch (PT.R) 13 - -
Bell Atlantic Mobile (P.T.R) i 12 12
Southwestern Sell Mobile Svstems (PT.R) — 11 —

Revenue from these cusiomers was generated from the following divisions:
P — Prepaid wireless services

T — Teleservices

R — Roaming services

S — Systems

Inventory

Inventory. which consists of computer hardware and electronic components, 1s recorded at the lower of cost (first-in.
first-out method) or market. Inventory is categonzed as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
(== 1997
Raw matenals $26% SL.114
Work in process 835 127
Finished goods — 309
$3.525 $1.550
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the esumated useful lives
of the assets. which range from 3 to 7 vears. Systems in development represent the cost of purchased hardware and
software 10 be used in switching equipment not yet placed into service and will be depreciated between 3 and 5

seans

In accordance with Financial Accounung Standards Board Statement No. 121. “Accounting for the Impawrment of
Long-Linved Assets and for Long-Lived Assets 10 be Disposed Of.” the Company reviews uts long-lived assets for
impaurment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable If 1t 1s determuned that the carrying amount of an asset cannot be fully recovered. an impairment loss 1s
recogmized Dunng 1998 and 1997. the Company recorded impairment losses of $698.000 and $569.000. respec-
tnels. for the wntedown of equipment which could no loager be used n its business to its fair market value. These
assets were sold dunng 1998 at thew impaired carrying value of $265.000

Goodwill

Goodwili represents the excess of cost of acquired businesses over the fair market value of all net assets acquired.
Goodwill 1s being amoruzed on a straght-line basis over an eight-year penod. Accumulated amortization totaled
approximately S1.4 mullion and $786.000 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Engineering, Research and Development
Costs associated with engineening. research and development are expensed as incurred.
Reclassifications

Centaia 1tems on the financial statements have been reclassified from the pnor year 1o be comparable with the
current vear presentation.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to follow Accounung Pnnciples Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued 10
Emplovees™ (APB 25) 1n accounting for 1ts stock-based compensauon plans. rather than the alternauve fair value
accounting method provided for under Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement (SFAS) No. 123. "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensauion.” as this alternative requires the use of option valuation models that were not developed
for use in valuing employee stock opuions. Under APB 25, since the exercise pnice of opions granted under these plans
equals the market pnce of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is required.

Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998. the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued SFAS No. 133. “Accounting for Denvanve
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” which establishes standards for the recognition. measurement. and reporung of
denvauves and hedging actvities and 1s effective for the Company ‘s vear ended December 31. 2000. The Company
anucipates that the adoption of this new accounung standard will not have a matenal impact on the Company s
consolidated financial statements

3. ACQUISITIONS

In Februany 1996. the Company acquired the net assets of Voice Systems Technology Inc. (VST). now the Systems
Division. a company which develops and markets prepaid and voice processing systems. for approximately $2.5
million ($500.000 cash and 265.373 shares of common stock). VST had revenues and net income for the |11 months
ended February 29. 1996 of S2.1 mullion and $9.000. respectively. The allocation of the purchase price was based on
she faur market value of assets and habihines acquired and the excess over those amounts 1s accounted for as good-
will On January 31. 1996. the Company acquired 17.5% of the stock in Wireless Amenca Corp. (WAC) for
$35.000. WAC marketed and sold prepaid equipment in Laun Amenca. On October 23. 1996. the Company
acquired an additional 62.5% of the stock of WAC for $916.500. In August 1997. the Company pad S1.4 million to
purchase the final 205 interest in WAC and recorded this amount as goodwill. which 1s being amoruzed over eight
vears  WAC was subsequently merged into VST. The acquisiions have been accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting and the results of operations have been included in the Company s results of operations from
the Jdate of acquisition

The tollowing unaudited pro forma informauion has been prepared assurung that these acquisiions had taken place
at the beginning of 1996. The unaudited pro forma information includes adjustments for interest expense that
would have been incurred to finance the purchase. amortization of goodwill resulung from the purchase. ehimination
01 the effect of transactions between the Company and acquired companies and income taxes. The unaudited pro
torma financial information 1s not necessanly indicauve of the results of operauions as if the transacuons had been
ertected on December 31. 1996 (unaudited and in thousands. except per share data).

\et revenues S$51.873
Net income available 1o common stockholders S | i
\¢t income per basic and diluted common share S 000 ;

4. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following

December 31,

1= Mousands | 199 197

Biliing adjustments S LM $1.216
Cellular airume 1,178 1.544
Fayroll 2052 1.183
Telecommunication costs 1.5%6 779
Deterred revenue 790 426
Other 3421 2.156
$10.124 $7.304
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5. SECMENT REPORTING

The Company adopted SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterpnse and Related Informauon™ in
1998. SFAS No. 131 established standards for reporung information about operating segments in annual financial
statements and requires seiected information about operaung segments in intenm financial reports 1ssued to stock-
nolders. It also established standards for related disclosures about products and services. and geographic areas
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterpnse about which separate financial information 1s avaul-
able that 1s evaluated regulariy by the chuef operating decision maker. or decision making group. in decxding how 10
allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief operaung decision-maker 1s the Chuef
Executive Officer. The operang segments are managed separately because cach operaung segment represents a
strategic business unit that offers dufferent products and serves different mches in the wareless industry.

The Company’s reportable operating segments consist of the Prepaid Wireless Services. Teleservices. Roaming
Services and Systems Divisions. The Company 's Prepasd Wireless Services Division offers prepasd wireless service
that allows camers 1o access the Company s prepaid C.C platform. enabiing the camers 10 offer prepaid wireless
calling to thewr subscnibers. The Company ‘s Teleservices Division provides customer support teleservices to wireless
camer’s customers. which allows camers 10 outsource all or a poruon of their customer service acuvities. The
Company s Roaming Services Division provides camers with ROAMERpius call processing services which
provides camers the ability 10 generate revenues from subscnbers who are not covered under traditional roamung
agreements by arranging pavment for roamung calls The Company’s Systems Division manufactures and markets
voice processing platforms to wireless and wireline camers twoughout North and South Amenca with enhanced
features including prepasd wireless. vosce messaging and fax maul services. The Systems Division aiso sells prepad
svsiems 10 imternational camers and manufactures the voice nodes used to support the Company's C.C network.
The other segment assets include cash equivalents and short-term investments and other assets not allocated to the

reportable operating segments

The accounung policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies except that the financial results for the Company’s operating segments have been prepared using
2 management approach. This 1s consistent with the basis and manner in which the Company’s management inter-
nalls analyzes financial information for the purposes of assising in making internal operating decisions. The
Company evaluates performance tased on stand-alone operating segment income (loss) before interest and taxes and
allocates corporate level operaung expenses to the operaung segments. All revenues are generated from external
customers and there are no intersegment revenues. Revenues are attnbuted to geographic areas based on the loca-
uon of the customers 10 whom the services were provided or the location where the systems were shipped. Caputal
exvpenditures include equipment purchased directly from vendors or acquired through a capital lease. The summary
of operating segment information 1s as follows at December 31. (in thousands)




(continued)

Prepaid

Wircless

Services Teleservices Services Svstems Other Total
1998
Net revenues $18.624 $26.001 $28235 S13622 § — S8sdE2
Depreciation and amortization 6782 2473 808 1,182 — 11,245
Operating income (loss) (7.236) 393 2962 732 - (3189
Assets, net 31501 10,493 5518 12855 319 91.760
Capital expenditures 6.603 1311 199 1.184 1.219 10.516
1997
Net revenues 7.539 17.009 32.461 11.090 — 68.099
Depreciauon and amortization 2.359 1.745 600 842 -— 5546
Operaung income (loss) (7.976) 562 4.547 478 — (2.389)
Assets. net 29314 8.126 7.110 9.701 9.1 93.385
Capital expenditures 24.742 4.154 798 1.006 1.034 31.73
199
Net revenues 2 13413 3223 4.692 — 50.651
Depreciauon and amoruzation 789 701 263 356 — 2109
Operating income (loss) (5.792) 674 4.787 971 - 610
Assets. net 5.630 5435 6.966 7.934 25994 51959
Capital expenditures 5.165 1.308 611 oS 1.567 9.593

Informanion concerming pnincipal geographic areas 1s as follows (in thousands)

Year ended Decesnber 31.
et devenues 1998 1" 19%
North America
United States $TB081  SS9.760 S37.786
Other 1565 5.296 >.865
Total North Amenca 81.60% 65.056 S0.651
South America
Total South Amenca 4873 3043 —
Total $S86482 S68.099  $50.651
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(continued)

6. INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of wemporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and habalities for financial reporung purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant compo-
nents of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Decesaber 31,

i ——

198 [
Deferred tax assets
Net operaung loss caryforwards $ L724 S 884
Allowance for doubtful accounts and billing adjustments 521 747
Minimum tax credst carryforwards 111 128
Accrued expenses and other 1222 665
Asset imparment 478 200
Total deferred tax assets 4,056 2624
Deferred tax habilities
Tax over book depreciation and amoruzation expense (2.492) (1.060)
Total deferred tax habilities (2.492) {1.060)
Net deferred tax assets S1.564 S 1.564

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Yesr Ended Decemsber 31.

19% 19 199

Current
Federal $ - — s S
State — 83
—_ 13

Detferred
Federal — (209 423
State — (21) 43
=5 (230 166
Income tax prossion (benefit) $ - S 188) S600

The Company utihized S2.0 mullion 1n 1996 of federal net operaung loss carrvforwards 10 offset taxable income
The raluanion allowance decreased $162.000 dunng 1996 due pnmanly 1o the utilization of net operating loss carry-
torwards At December 31. 1998, the Company has approxumately $4.7 million of net operaung loss carryforwards
tor federal income tax retum purposes available for use in future vears that expire beginning in 2006.

A reconciliation of the statutory rate to the effecuve rate 1s as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
1998 1" 1996

Feoeral provision (benefit) at statutory rate 34)% (34)% M%

State income provision (benefit). net of federal 6 6

Permanent differences 16 26

Net operaung losses not recognized 4 — -

Benefit of net operaung loss - - 2)
0% (14)% S0%

Income taxes pasd were $352.000 in 1996, $83.000 in 1997 and $61.000 in 1998.
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7. CAPITAL STOCK

Common Stock

On Apnl 26. 1996. the Company authonzed 35.000.000 shares of a new class of common stock and effected a
recaputalization of the Company (the ~1996 Recapitalization™). All outstanding shares of the Company ‘s class A. B.
C and D common stock were exchanged for an aggregate of 3.335.985 shares of Common Stock. In addition. the
terms and conditions of the Company s three classes of convertible preferred stock were modified. without changing
the 1otal number of shares of Common Stock into which the preferred stock can be converted The converuble
preferred shares were converted to 5.004.608 shares of Common Stock upon the closing of the initial public
offenng

Public Offerings

In 1996. the Company sold in its imual public offenng (IPO) 3,918.555 shares of its common stock vielding net
proceeds to the Company of $S49.8 million. The proceeds were used to redeem preferred stock and to repay an
existing line of credit and capnal lcases. Upon the closing of the IPO. the Company redeemed all 11.871
outstanding shares of redeemable preferred stock at a redemption price of $1.000 per share. In addition. the
Company paid approximately $4.5 million in accreted dividends on the redeemable preferred stock.

In 1997, the Company sold in a public offering 3.000.000 shares of its common stock yielding net proceeds 1o the
Company of $35.8 million. The proceeds are being used for capital and other expenditures in connection with the
expansion of the C.C network.

Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors are authonzed. subject to certain limitations prescribed by law, without further shareholder
approral. 1o 1ssue from ume to ume up to an aggregate of 2,000.000 shares of Preferred Stock in one or more senes
and 1o fix or alter the designations. preferences. nghts and any qualifications, limitations or restnctions of the shares
of each such senes thereof. including the dividend nghts. dividend rates. conversion nghts, voting nghts. terms of
redemption (including sinking fund provisions). redemption price or pnces. liquidation preferences and the number
of shares consuituting any senes or designations of such senes. The issuance of Preferred Stock may have the effect
of delaving. deferning or preventing a change of control of the Company. The Company has no present plans 10 1ssue
any shares of Preterred Stock.

Stock Option Plans

The Company s 1996 and 1998 Stock Option Plans (the Plans) were adopted by the Board of Directors and
approved by the stockholders of the Company in 1996 and 1998, respectively. The Plans provide for the grant of
stock options to emplovees. officers and directors. consultants and advisors to. the Company and its subsidianes.
Under the Plans. the Company may grant options that are intended to qualify as incentive stock options within the
meaning of Section 422 of the Intemnal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™) (“incentive stock options™).
or opuions not intended to qualify as incentive stock options (“nonstatutory options™). Incentive stock options may
only be granted to empiovees of the Company. A total of 1.264.792 and 600.000 shares of Common Stock may be
issued upon the exercise of options granted under the 1996 and 1998 Stock Option Plans. respectively. The
maximum number of shares with respect to which options may be granted to any employee under the 1996 and 1998
Stock Option Plans shall not exceed 200.000 and 60.000 shares of Common Stock. respectively. dunng any calendar
vear All options granted have 10 year terms and generally vest and become exercisable over five years.

In 1996. the Company granted nonqualified options to purchase 653.278 and 93.551 shares of common stock at
exercise pnces of $5.75 and $10.00, respecuvely In 1998, the Company granted 400.000 non-qualified options to
purchase shares of common stock at an exercise pnce of $7.06. The exercise pnces of all non-qualified opuions
were equal 10 the faur market value as determuned by the Company on the date of grant.

Pro forma information regarding net income and carmings per share 1s required by Statement 123, and has been
determuned as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock opuor i under the fair value method of that
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

statement. The fair value for these options was esumated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pncing
model with the following weighted average assumpuions for 1997 and 1998: nsk-fiee interest rates of 6. 4% and
5.4% respecuvely. no dividend yield. the volatility factor of the expected market pnice of the Company’s common
stock of 0.5 and a weighted-average expected life of the option of 4 10 § years

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
which have no vesung restnctions and are fully transferable. In addituon. option valuation models require the input
of highly subjective assumpuions including the expected stock pnce volatulity. Because the Company’s emplovee
stock options have charactensucs significantly different from those of traded options. and because changes in the
subjective input assumptions can matenally affect the fair value esumate. in management’s opinion. the existing
models do not necessanly provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures. the esumated fair value of the options is amoruzed (o expense over the options’
vesting penod. The Company’s pro forma informauon follows (in thousands. except for per share information):

December 31,

199 197 1996
Prc forma net loss $(4.034) S(2.859) $(1.980)
Pro forma basic net loss per share $ 025 S 0200 S (0.29)
Pro forma diluted net loss per share $ 025 S 0200 S 0.18)
Stock opuion information 1s as follows
1998 1" 199
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Outstanding — beginning of year 1417.654 $6.74 1666359  $8.86 355,758 $0.14
Granted 966.500 733 1.124,342 587 1548329 976
Exercised (143,888) 4.00 (538.630) 462 (201.228) 0.14
Canceled (304.290) 9.00 (834417) 1118 (36.500) 13.61
Outstanding — end of vear 1.935.976 $6.90 1.417.654 $6.74  1.666.359 $8 86

The tollowing table summanzes the stock opuons outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 1998:

Options Exerciasbie Options Ovasanding Exerciae Price

- 5.555 S 014

190.476 621410 4.75-4.88

316928 752,278 500~ 706

121.033 5§56.732 $7.25 - 14.00
628437 1.935.976

There were 417,915 opuons exercisable at December 31. 1997 at a weightev average exercise pnce of $6.44. The
weighted-average faur value of options granted dunng 1997 and 1998 was $3.44 and $3.24, respectively. The weighted-
average contractual Life of opuons outstanding at December 31, 1997 and 1998 was 9.2 and 8.6 years, respecuvely.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company s 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan™) was adopted by the Board of Directors
and approved by the shareholders of the Company in Apnl 1996. The Purchase Plan authonzes the issuance of up to
a total of 225.000 shares of Common Stock to participaung employees.

All full-ume employees of the Company who have been employed by the Company for a minimum of twelve
months. including directors of the Company who are employees. are eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan. On
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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the first day of a designated pavroll deduction penod (the “Offenng Penod™). the Company will grant to each
ehigible emplovee who has elected 10 parucipate in the Purchase Plan an option to purchase shares of Common
Stock as follows: the employee may authonze an amount (up (0 a maximum of 10% of such employee’s regular pay )
10 be deducted by the Company from such payv dunng the Offenng Penod. On the last day of the Offenng Penod.
the employee is deemed 10 have exercised the opuon. at the option exercise pnce. (o the extent of accumulated
payroll deductions. Under the terms of the Purchase Plan. the option pnice is an amount equal to 905 of the fair
market value per share of the Common Stock on either the first day or the last day of the Offening Penod. whichever
1s lower. In no event may an employee purchase in any one Offenng Penod a number of shares which has an aggre-
gate market value (determined on the last day of the Offering Penod) in excess of $25.000. The Compensation
Comrmuttee may. in its discreuon. choose an Offenng Penod of 12 months or less for each of the Offenngs and
choose a different Offenng Penod for each Offening.

8. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share

Year Ended Decemsber 31.
In thousands | 1998 1w 19%
Numerator for basic and fully diluted eamings per share
Net income (1oss) available to common shareholder $(1.500) Scl.l1éy S 148
Denomunator:
Denomunator for basic earmings per share — weighted average shares 16274 14.007 8.352
Effect of dilutive secunues
Emplovee stock opuons - 238

Conversion of preferred stock — — 2.294
Dilutive potenuial common shares - — 3832

Denomunator for diluted earmings per share — adjusted weighted

average shares and assumed Conversion I‘._J?J 14.007 10.884
Basic net income (loss) available to common shareholder per
common share $ 0.11) S (008) S 002
hluted net income (loss) available 1o common shareholder per
common share $ 011 S 008) S 00!

Opuions to purchase 1.935.976 shares of common stock were outstanding as of December 31. 1998 and were not
included in the computation of diluted earmings per share because of the Company 's net losses for those years.
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9. COMMITMENTS
Leases

The Company entered into a capital lease for $1.5 million in 1996 which was fully repaid in 1996 and entered 1nto a
capital lease for $3.2 million in 1997. The accumulated amortization of the assets under capital lease was $271.000
and $886.000 at December 31. 1997 and 1998, respectively. The Company also has non-cancelable operating lease
commitments for office space. call center facilities. equipment and personnel. Rent and call center facility and
equipment expense approximated 05881.000 in 1996, S$1.2 million in 1997, and $2.2 mullion in 1998.

Future miimum payments under non-cancelable capital leases and operating leases are as follows (in thousands)
Capital

Operating
Near cnding Decomber 31 Lesse Lenses
1999 S1.145 S 5.165
2000 562 3446
2001 — 2814
2002 - 2,641
2003 — 1.543
Total munimum lease payments 1.707 $15.609
Amounts represenung interest 109
Present value of net minimum pavments 1.598
_ Current portion 1.052
S 546

The operaung leases include S2.4 million per vear payable through May 2003 for a call center facility and equip-
ment. The Company has the option 10 buyout the lease for the call center facility and equipment beginning 1n May
1999 for $5.9 million

Significant Contracts

In 1998, the Company entered into an agreement with 2 vendor to jointly develop two products for the Company.
Th=+ Company will pay this vendor $1.7 mullion for the development effort and the exclusive license of the first
nrouuct In addiion. the Company is required to pay S9 million for the second product dunng the next three years.

10. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a management agreement. the Company paid annual fees of $252.000 in 1996 to a management
company affiliated with centain shareholders of the Company. This amount represents the payroll and certain benefit
<0sts Of six senior management personnel responsible for the operations of the Company.

The management agreement was termunated 1n March 1996 and the employees of the management company became
employees of the Company. The management fees previously incurred by the Company under the management
agreement closely approximate the actual payroll and related benefits curvently being directly incurred by the
Company. and the Company believes that these amounts are reasonable and comparable to those that would have
been incurred with an unrelated third party. Addiuonally, the Company leased office space from another company
affiliated with certain shareholders of the Company under a leasing arrangement which was terminated i August
1996 The Company recorded rent expense of $40.000 in 1996 in connection with this lease. Another company, affil-
1ated with centain shareholders of the Company. received $462.000 in 1996 in connection with the repurchase of
redeemable preferred stock of the affiliated company’'s investment and its accreted dividends.




Report of Ermnst & Young LLP. Independent Auditors

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Boston Communications Group. Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Boston Communications Group. Inc. and
subsidianes as of December 31. 1998 and 1997 and the related consolidated statements of operations. redeemable
preferred stock and shareholders” equaty. and cash flows for cach of the three years in the peniod ended December
31. 1998 Our audits also included the financial statements schedule listed in the Index at Item 13(a) These finan-
cial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 1s to express
an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits 1n accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal
musstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis. evidence supporung the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounung pnnciples used and significant esumates made
by management. as well as evaluaung the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our auduts
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion. the financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all matenal respects. the consolidated
financial positon of Boston Communicanons Group. Inc. and subsidianes at December 31. 1998 and 1997, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three vears in the penod ended
December 31, 1998. in conformity with generally accepted accounting pnnciples. Also. in our opimon. the related
financial statement schedule. when considered in relation 1o the basic financial statements taken as a whole. presents
tairiv 1n all matenal respects the information set forth therein

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

Boston. Massachusetts
januan 29, 1999




Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
PART 11

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The sections enutled “Election of Directors™ and Reports Under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act appeanng in the
Company's proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 20. 1999. set forth cenain
information with respect to the directors of the Company and reports filed by cenain persons under Section 16¢a) of
the Exchange Act and are incorporated herein by reference. Certain information with respect to persons who are or
may be deemed to be executive officers of the Company 1s set forth under the caption “Executive Officers of the

Company™ in Pant | of this report.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The s=cuons entitled “Executive Compensauon™, “Employment Agreements with Named Execunve Officers” and
“Repon of the Compensation Commuttee” appeanng i1n the Company’s proxy statement tor the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held on May 20. 1999, set forth centain information with respect to the compensation of manage-
ment of the Company and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The section entitled “Secunty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management™ appearing in the
Company’s proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 20. 1999. sets forth cenain
information with respect to the ownership of the Company ‘s Common Stock and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The secuons entitied “Executive Compensation”. “Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers.” and
‘Cenain Transactions™ appeanng in the Company s proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held on May 20. 1999. set forth certain information with respect to certain business relanonships and transactions
berieen the Company and its directors and officers and are incorporated herein by reference.




PART IV
Item 14. EXHIBITS. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES & REPOR1 = ON FORM 8-K

ta)(1) Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statements of Boston Communications Group. Inc. are included as

Item 8

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31. 1998 and 1997 . .. .. .. . Ste Sraam el sias g on 38
Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 .. ... ... 26
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Preferred Stock & Shareholders’ Equity — Years ended December
3 IO T e 1008 L e e e S e T e TS AN S ot 0.y
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended December 31. 1998, 1997 and 1996 . . ... 28
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . ... .. .. 3 Eh iy s ST S & : : 29

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
For the vears ended December 31. 1998, 1997 and 1996:
Schedule 11 - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other Schedules have been omitted because the required informaton is shown in the consolidated financial state-
ments or notes thereto or they are not applicable.

(3) The Exhibits histed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the Exhibits are filed as pant of this Annual
Repon on Form 10-K.

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K

None
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Pursuant 10 the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunuies Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report 10 be signed on its behalf by the undersigned. thereunto duly authonzed on the 29th day of March

1999

Pursuant 10 the requirements of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the

SIGNATURES

BOSTON COMMUNICATIONS GROUP. INC.

By: /s/ EY. Snowden

E. Y. Snowden

President and Chief Executive Officer

following persons on behalf of the registrant and 1n the capacities and on the dates indicated.

. Signature

/v EY Snowden

EY Snowden

/s/ _Fruz E. von Menng

Frz E. von Menng

/s/  Paul J. Tobin

Paul J. Tobin

'/ Bnan E Bovie

Bnan E. Bovle

s Jerrold D. Adams

Jerrold D. Adams

s/ Craig L Burmr

Craig L Burr

&/ Paul R. Gudomis

Paul R Gudonis

'S/ Gerald Segel

Gerald Segel

‘s Mark J Kington

Mark J. Kington

Title
President. Chief Executive Officer
and Director
Vice President. Finance and
Administration. Director (Pnincipal
Financial Financial and Accounting
Officer
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Vice Chaurman of the Board of
Drrectors
Darector
Drrector
Darector
Director
Darector
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Date

March 29.

1999

. 1999

. 1999

. 1999

. 1999

. 1999




33
10.2
10.3
103.1
10.5

10.10
10.11

10,1284

10.15

10.15.1

10.15.2

10153

10.16

10.17

1026

1027

10.28

10 30

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Restated Articles of Organization of the Company. as amended.'

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company.

+1996 Stock Option Plan.'

+1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.'

+Amendment Number |. dated August 30. 1996. 1o 1996 Emplovee Stock Purchase Plan-
Billing and Related Services Agreement dated Apnil 19. 1995 between the Company and OAN
Services. Inc. ("OAN™).

License Agreement dated April 23. 1996 between the Company and MicroDimensions. Inc.
Gateway Service Agreement dated June 5. 1995 between the Company and SNET Divensified
Group. Inc.’

Frontier Service Agreement dated June 6. 1996 between the Company and Frontier
Communicauons of the West. Inc.

Commercial Lease dated January 24. 1996 between the Company and Cummings Properties
Management. Inc.’

Commercial Lease dated February 26. 1996 between the Company and Cummings Property
Management. Inc. (Amendment No. 1.7

Amendment No. 2. dated August 8. I9?6. 10 the commercial lease between the Company and
Cummings Property Management. Inc.”

Amendment No. 3. dated February S. [991 10 the commercial lease between the Company and
Cummungs Property Management. Inc.”

Lease dated November 30. 1994, as amended. between the Company and Teachers Realty
Corporation.

Commercial/Industnal Lease dated September 27. 1995 between the Voice Systems Technology
Inc. ("VST ") and Schieuter Properues.

End-User Purchase and License Agreement between the Company and Teloquent Communications
Corporation.

Software License and Services Agreement dated October 30. 1996 between the Company and
Oracle Corporation

Software License and Services Agreement dated September 24, 1996 between the Company and
Oracle Corporation.*

Registration Rights Agreement dated February 29. 1996 between the Company and Michael J.
Buchel. Zuyus Investment Company. Peter T. Zuyus. Jr.. Joseph Giegench. Terrence G Hare [11. J.
Michael Looney and John M. Freese. Sr’

Amendment. dated December 16. 1996. 1o the Registration Rights Agreement. dated February 29,
1996

Amendment. dated December 16. 1996. to the Registranon Rights Agreement. dated February 29,
1996

Commercial Lease dated Apnl 1. 1997 between the Company and Cummungs Properues
Management. Inc.*

Master Equipment Lease Agreement between Boston Commumications Group. Inc. and Fleet
Caputal Corp. dated August 20. 1997

Long Distance Service Agreement between Boston Communications Group. Inc. and AT&T Corp
dated July 10. 1997




10 38 Billing and Related Senvices Agreement between the Company and AT&T Corp dated October 14
1997 *

10.39 Agreement dated March 21. 1997 between the Company and Aspect Telecommunications
Corporation

10 30" Amendment No. |. dated January 7. 1998 10 the service agreement between the Company and
Fronter Communications of the West. Inc”

1041 Agreement dated February 9. 1998 between the Company and the University of Massachusetts at
Lowell

1042 Emplovment Letter Agreement dated February 10. 1998 between the Company and EY
Snowden.’

10.343% Agreement dated May 15, 1998 between the Company and ICT Group. Inc.*
10 3347 Agreement dated May 3. 1998 between the Company and Smartalk Teleservices. Inc*

1045 +1998 Stock Incenuve Plan
10 36" Agreement dated October 6. 1998 between the Company and ICT Group. Inc
1047 Agreement between the Company and AG Communication Systems dated Nov. 16, 1998
10.48* Agreement dated December 17. 1998 between MD Telecom. Inc. and the Company
10 39 Amendment No. 4. dated December 4. 1998. 10 the commercial lease between the Company and
Cummungs Property Management. Inc.
| Subsidianes of the Registrant.
R Consent of Emst & Young LLP. Independent Auditors
2y Financial Data Schedules

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed June 17. 1996 (File No
3333128

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31. 1996

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quaner ended March 31. 1997

Incorporated by reference to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30. 1997.

Incorporaied by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quaner ended September 30. 1997
Incorporated by reference to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31. 1997
Incorporated by reference to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998

Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quaner ended June 30. 1998
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement filed as an exhabut pursuant to Item 14(c) of this
Repon

* Confidenual treatment requested as to certain pornons. which portions have been deleted and filed separately
with the Secunuies and Exchange Commussion

** Confidenual treatment granted as 1o certamn portions. which portions have been deleted and filed separately with
the Secunues and Exchange Commussion




X SCHEDULE Il

BOSTON COMMUNICATIONS GROUP. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In thousands)
coL A CoL B coLC coLD COLE
ADDITIONS
CHARGED
BALANCEAT  CHARGED TO TO OTHER BALANCE
BEGINNING COSTS AND ACCOUNTS  DEDUCTIONS ATEND
DESCRIPTION OF PERIOD EXPENSES  DESCRIBE(l)  DESCRIBE D OF PERIOD

Year =nded December 31. 1998:
Reserves and allowances deducted from
ASSCT accounts:

Allowance for billing adjustments and
uncollectible accounts $1.304 S$— $1.557 $1.353 S1.508

Year ended December 31. 1997
Reserves and allowances deducted from
asset accounts
Allowance for billing adjustments and
uncollectible accounts 1.242 - $636 $574 1.304

Year ended December 31. 1996
Resenes and allowances deducted from
asset accounts
Allowance for billing adjustments and
uncollecuble accounts $884 $30 $896 $564 $1.242

(11 Billing adrustments recorded as a reduction of revenue
1 21 Settlement of billing adjustments
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BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tariff No. 1
Original Title Sheet

TITLE SHEET

This tariff is governed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of South Dakota.
It applies to resold intrastate telecommunications services furnished by BCGI Communications
Corp. (“Carrier”) between one or more points in the State of South Dakota. This tariffis on file with
the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission (“Commission™), and copies may be inspected, during
normal business hours, at Camier's principal place of business, 100 Sylvan Road, Woburn,
Massachusetts 01801.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801



BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tariff No. 1
Original Sheet No. 1

CHECK SHEET

The sheets of this tariff are effective as of the date shown at the bottom of the respective
sheet(s). Original and revised sheets as named below comprise all changes from the original tariff
and are currently in effect as of the date on the bottom of this page.

SHEET REVISION
Title Sheet  Original

1 Original

2 Original

3 Original

B Original

5 Original

6 Original

7 Original

8 Orniginal

9 Original

10 Original

11 Original

12 Original

13 Original

14 Original

15 Original

16 Original

17 Original

18 Original

19 Original

20 Original

21 Original

22 Original

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobumn, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tariff No. |

Original Sheet No. 2
TABLE OF CONTENTS
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Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. 1
Onginal Sheet No. 3

SYMBOLS

The following are the only symbols used for the purposes mdicated below:
C - Change in Regulation
D - Delete or Discontinue

I - Change Resulting In An Increase 1o A Customer’s Bill

M - Moved From Another Taniff Location
- New
R - Change Resulting In A Reduction to A Customer’s Bill
T - Change In Text or Regulation But No Change In Rate or Charge
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Woburmn, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |

Original Sheet No. 4

A.

TARIFF FORMAT

Sheet Numbering - Sheet numbers appear in the upper right corner of the page. Sheets are
numbered sequentially. However, new sheets are occasionally added to the tariff. When a
new sheet is added between sheets already in effect, a decimal is added. For example, a new
sheet added between sheets 14 and 15 would be 14.1.

Sheet Revision Numbers - Revision numbers also appear in the upper right comer of each
page. These numbers are used to determine the most current sheet version on file with the
Commission. For example, the 4th Revised Sheet 14 cancels the 3rd Revised Sheet 14.
Because of various suspension periods, deferrals, etc. the Commission follows in their tanff
approval process, the most current sheet number on file with the Commission is not always
the tariff page in effect.

Paragraph Numbering Sequence - There are nine levels of paragraph coding. Each level of
coding is subservient to its next higher level:

y

2.1

21.1.

2.1.1.A.

2.1.L1.A.L.
2.1.1.A.1.(a).
2.1.1.A.1.(a).1
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L(i).
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L(1).(1).

Check Sheets - When a tariff filing is made with the Commission, an updated check sheet
accompanies the tariff filing. The check sheet lists the sheets contained in the tariff, with a
cross reference to the current revision number. When new pages are added, the check sheet
is changed to reflect the revision. All revisions made in a given filing are designated by an
asterisk (*). There will be no other symbols used on the check sheet if these are the only
changes made to it (i.e., the format, etc. remains the same, just revised revision levels on
some pages). The tariff user should refer to the latest check sheet to find out if a particular
sheet is the most current on file with the Commission.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. TanfT No. 1

Original Sheet No. 5

SECTION 1. Vv N

Authorization Code - A numerical code, one or more of which may be assigned to a
Subscriber, to enable Carrier to identify the origin of service User so it may rate and bill the
call. All authorization codes shall be the sole property of Carrier and no Subscriber shall
have any property or other right or interest in the use of any particular authorization code.
Automatic numbering identification (ANI) may be used as or in connection with the
authorization code.

Automatic Numbering Identification (ANI) - A type of signaling provided by a local
exchange telephone company which automatically identifies the local exchange line from
which a call originates.

Calling Card - A postpaid or prepaid calling card issued by Carrier which allows Subscribers
and/or Users to make telephone calls and charge the calls to a postpaid or prepaid account.
Calls charged to a Carrier-issued postpaid Calling Card will appear on the Subscriber’s
regular monthly bill. Calls charged to a Carrier-issued prepaid calling cards will be charged
against the debit account.

Carrier or Company - Refers to BCGI Communications Corp.

Common Carrier - A company or entity providing telecommunications services to the public.
Complaint - Any oral or written report from a Subscriber or user of telephone service relating
to a physical defect, difficulty or dissatisfaction with the operation of telephone facilities,

errors in billing or the quality of service rendered.

Commission - Refers to the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road
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SECTION 1. TECHNICAL TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS (Cont'd)

Holiday - New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day and Christmas Day.

Local Access and Transport Area (LATA) - The term "Local Access Transport Area” denotes
a geographical area established by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia in

Civil Action No. 82-0192, within which a local exchange company provides communications
services.

Measured Charge - A charge assessed on a per minute basis in calculating a portion of the
charges due for a completed interexchange call.

Subscriber/Customer - The person, firm, corporation or legal entity that enters into
arrangements for Carrier’s telecommunications services and is responsible for payment of

Carrier’s services.
Telecommunications - The transmission of voice communications or, subject to the
transmission capabilitics of the service, the transmission of data, facsimile, signaling,

metering, or other similar communications.

User - The person(s) utilizing Carrier’s services.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS

2.1

Undertaking of the Carri

2.1.1 The Company's services are furnished for communications originating at specified
points within the State of South Dakota under terms of this tariff.

2.1.2 The Company provides the communications services described herein in accordance
with the terms and conditions set forth under this tariff. It may act as the Customer’s
agent for ordering access connection facilities provided by other carriers or entities
when authorized by the Customer, to allow connection of a customer’s location to the
Company's network. The Customer shall be responsible for all charges due for such
service arrangement.

2.1.3 The Company's services are provided on a monthly basis unless ordered on a longer
term basis, and are available twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week.

2.1.4 The selling of intrastate interexchange ("IXC") telecommunications service to
uncertificated IXC resellers is prohibited.

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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Original Sheet No. 8

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)

Iy

imitations
2.2.1 Service is offered subject to the availability of facilities and provisions of this tariff.

2.2.2 The Company reserves the right to discontinue furnishing service or limit the use of
service (1) when conditions beyond its control necessitate such discontinuance or
limitation of service; or (2) when the Customer is using the Company’s service in
violation of the law or the provisions of this tariff.

2.2.3 All facilities provided under this tariff are directly controlled by the Company and
the Customer may not transfer or assign the use of service or facilities, except with
the express written consent of the Company. Such transfer or assignment shall only
apply where there is no interruption of the use or location of the service or facilities.

2.2.4 Prior written permission from the Company is required before any assignment or
transfer. All regulations and conditions contained in this tariff shall apply to all such
permitted assignees or transferees, as well as all conditions for service.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Woburn, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
Liability of Carri

23

2.3.1

232

233

234

Except as otherwise stated in this section, the liability of Carrier for damages arising
out of either: (1) the furnishing of its services, including but not limited to mistakes,
omissions, interruptions, delays, or errors, or other defects, representations, or use of
these services, or (2) the failure to fumnish its service, whether caused by acts or
omission, shall be limited to the extension of allowances to the Customer for
interruptions in service as set forth herein.

Except for the extension of allowances to the Customer for interruptions in service
as set forth herein, Carrier shall not be liable to a Customer or third party for any
direct, indirect, special, incidental, reliance, consequential, exemplary or punitive
damages, including, but not limited to, loss of revenue or profits, for any reason
whatsoever, including, but not limited to, any act or omission, failure to perform,
delay, interruption, failure to provide any service or any failure in or breakdown of
facilities associated with the service.

The hability of Carrier for errors in billing that result in overpayment by the
Customer shall be limited to a credit equal to the dollar amount erroneously billed
or, in the event that payment has been made and service has been discontinued, to a
refund of the amount erroncously billed.

Carmier shall not be liable for any claims for loss or damages involving:
A. Any act or omission of: (1) the Customer; (2) any other entity furnishing

service, equipment or facilities for use in conjunction with services or
facilities provided by Carrier; or (3) common carriers or warchousemen;

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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Original Sheet No. 10

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
2.3 Liability of Carrier (Cont’d)

B.

234 (Cont'd)

Any delay or failure of performance or equipment due to causes beyond
Carrier's control, including but not limited to, acts of God, fires, floods,
carthquakes, hurricanes, or other catastrophes; national emergencies,
insurrections, riots, wars or other civil commotions; strikes, lockouts, work
stoppages or other labor difficulties; criminal actions taken against Carrier;
unavailability, failure or malfunction of equipment or facilities provided by
the Customer or third parties; and any law, order, regulation or other action
of any governing authority or agency thereof;

Any unlawful or unauthorized use of Carrier’s facilities and services;

Libel, slander, invasion of privacy or infringement of patents, trade secrets,
or copyrights arising from or in connection with the transmission of
communications by means of Carrier-provided facilities or services; or by
means of the combination of Carrier-provided facilities or services with
Customer-provided facilities or services;

Breach in the privacy or security of communications transmitted over
Carrier’s facilities;

Changes in any of the facilities, operations or procedures of Carrier that
render any equipment, facilities or services provided by the Customer
obsolete, or require modification or alteration of such equipment, facilities
or services, or otherwise affect their use or performance, except where
reasonable notice is required by Carrier and is not provided to the Customer,
in which event Carrier’s liability is limited as set forth in subsection 2.3.1 of
this Section 2.3.

Issued:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
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Original Sheet No. 11

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
23  Liability of Carrier (Cont'd)

234 (Cont'd)

G.

Injury to property or injury or death to persons, including claims for
payments made under Workers' Compensation law or under any plan for
employee disability or death benefits, arising out of, or caused by, any act or
omission of the Customer, or the construction, installation, maintenance,
presence, use or removal of the Customer’s facilities or equipment connected,
or to be connected to Carrier's facilities;

Any intentional, wrongful act of a Carrier employee when such act is not
within the scope of the employee's responsibilities for Carrier and/or is not
authorized by Carrier;

Any representations made by Carrier employees that do not comport, or that
are inconsistent, with the provisions of this TarifT;

Any act or omission in connection with the provisionof 911, E911, or similar
services involving emergencies;

Any noncompletion of calls due to network busy conditions;

Any calls not actually attempted to be completed during any period that
service is unavailable.

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCCI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
Liability of Carrier (Cont'd)

23

235

Carrier shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless by the Customer or end
user from and against any and all claims, loss, demands, suits, expense, or other
action or any liability whatsoever, including attorney fees, whether suffered, made,
instituted, or asserted by the Customer or by any other party, for any personal injury
to or death of any person or persons, and for any loss, damage or destruction of any
property, including environmental contamination, whether owned by the Customer
or by any other party, caused or claimed to have been caused directly or indirectly
by the installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance, presence, condition,
location, use or removal of any Carrier or Customer equipment or facilities or service
provided by Carrier.

Carrier does not guarantee nor make any warranty with respect to installations
provided by it for use in an explosive atmosphere. Except as otherwise provided for
by applicable law or regulations or determined by a court of competent jurisdiction
and unless due to Carrier’s negligence, Carrier shall be indemnified, defended and
held harmless by the Customer from and against any and all claims, loss, demands,
suits, or other action, or any liability whatsoever, including attorney fees, whether
suffered, made, instituted or asserted by the Customer or by any other party, for any
personal injury to or death of any person or persons, and for any loss, damage or
destruction of any property, including environmental contamination, whether owned
by the Customer or by any other party, caused or claimed to have been caused
directly or indirectly by the installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance,
presence, condition, location, use or removal of any equipment or facilities or the
service.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
2.3 Liability of Camier (Cont'd)

2.3.7 Camier assumes no responsibility for the availability or performance of any cable or
satellite systems or related facilities under the control of other entities, or for other
facilities provided by other entities used for service to the Customer, even if Carrier
has acted as the Customer’s agent in arranging for such facilities or services. Such
facilities are provided subject to such degree of protection or nonpreemptibility as
may be provided by the other entities.

2.3.8 Any claim of whatever nature against Carrier shall be deemed conclusively to have
been waived unless presented either orally or in writing to Carrier within 180 days
after the date of the occurrence that gave rise to the claim.

24  Deposits

The Company does not require a deposit from the Customer.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCG! Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)

25

2.6

Customer Complaints

Customer complaints are handled by a full service customer service department. Carrier’s
toll-free number will be printed on customer bills. Customers may call Carrier during
normal business hours or submit a written complaint to:

Mr. Jeffrey McLaughlin

BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801

If the customer is not satisfied with the Company's response, the customer may contact:

The South Dakota Public Utilities Commission
500 E. Capitol Avenue

State Capitol Building

Pierre, SD 57501

Phone: (605) 773-3201

fund
If a credit is requested on a call due to trouble on the line (such as bad connection,
disconnection, wrong number dialed, etc.), and the credit is requested immediately through

the operator of the underlying carrier, it is issued promptly. All other credit requests are
handled through the Company's business office.

Taxes

All state and local taxes (i.c., gross receipts tax, sales tax. municipal utilities tax) are separate
items and are not included in the quoted rates.

Issued:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES

3.1

33

When Billing C} Begi : :

The Customer’s long distance usage charge is based on the actual usage of the Company’s
network. Usage begins when the called party picks up the receiver, (i.c., when 2-way
communications, often referred to as “conversation time” is possible.). When the called
party picks up is determined by hardware answer supervision in which the local telephone
company sends a signal to the switch or the software utilizing audio tone detection. When
software answer supervision is employed, up to sixty (60) seconds of ringing is allowed
before it is billed as usage of the network. A call is terminated when the calling or called
party hangs up.

Billing |

Except as otherwise stated herein, the minimum call duration for billing purposes is three (3)
minutes for a connected call and calls beyond three (3) minutes are billed in one (i) minute
increments.

U leted Calls/Mini Call C .

The Company does not bill Customers for calls which are not completed (busy numbers, no
answer, etc.).

A Customer can expect a call completion rate (number of calls completed / number of calls
attempted) of not less than 90% during peak use periods.

Issued:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES

34

35

M Tel ARNDRY Wk

Message Telecommunications Services ("MTS") consist of the furnishing of message
telephone service between telephone stations located within the State. MTS is available
on both a switched and dedicated basis. Rates for dedicated service depend upon the
Customer’s term commitment. Rates for Switched service are on a 24 hours a day,
everyday basis with no monthly fees. Calls are billed in full minute increments for
intrastate calls. 1+ interLATA is completed through presubscription, while 1+intraLATA
is completed through 10XXX or other access codes.

Rate per minute: [Reserved for future use)

800 Service

800 Service is an inbound-only service in which callers located within the State may
place toll-free calls to a telephone in the 800 area code assigned to the Customer. 800
Service is available to Customers utilizing switched or dedicated access. Rates for
dedicated service depend upon the Customer’s term commitment. 800 service calls are
billed in six second initial and additional billing increments.

Rate per minute: [Reserved for future use]

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont'd)
3.6 Company Prepaid Calling Card Services
General Rules and Regulations

Company prepaid calling card service provides voice grade communications
service for calls charged to a Company prepaid calling card.

A.  Calls That May Not Be Completed

The following types of calls may not be completed with a Company
prepaid calling card:

- Calls to 500 numbers
- Calls to 700 numbers
- Calls to 900 numbers

- Operator services

- Conference calls

B.  Expiration

Company prepaid calling cards expire six (6) months after its initial use, or
by the end of the calendar year of purchase if never used.

C.  Availability

Company prepaid calling card service is available twenty-four hours a day,
seven days a week from Dual Tone Multi Frequency phones. The number
of available Company prepaid calling cards is subject to technical
limitations. Such cards will be offered to Customers on a first come, first

served basis.
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont’d)
3.6  Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont’d)
3.6.1 ti ‘ont”
D.  Access and Use

1. Company prepaid calling card service is accessed using the 800
number printed on the specific card.

2. All calls must be charged against a Company prepaid calling card
that has a sufficient available balance.

3 A Customer’s call will be interrupted with an announcement when
the balance is about to be depleted. Such announcement will occur
one minute before the balance will be depleted, based on the
terminating location of the call.

4. Calls in progress will be terminated by the Company if the balance
on the Company prepaid calling card is insufficient to continue the

call.
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont’d)
3.6 Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont’d)

1. Company prepaid calling cards are available in various dollar
denominations. These prices include taxes that are calculated
based on usage. They do not include sales or excise taxes due at
the point of purchase. Company prepaid calling card service rates
apply twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week.

~

The various dollar denominations may range from $5.00 to
$100.00, or as otherwise specified by the Company. Company
prepaid calling cards will be decremented the appropriate Rate per
Minute specified herein, that are in effect at the time the call is
made. The Rates per Minute apply to each minute or fraction
thereof for a call. Where the dollar value left on a Company
prepaid calling card is less than the lowest Rate per Minute for the
respective Company prepaid calling card service, the card will be
retired and the unused balance forfeited. Company prepaid calling
cards are not rechargeable.

3. A $0.50 call charge is applicable to calls that originate from any
payphone used to access Company’s services. This charge is
applied in addition to standard tariffed usage charges and any
applicable surcharges associa’2d with Company’s services, and is
not eligible to receive discounts or contribute to minimum wage

requirements.
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Woburn, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Con! d)
3.6 Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont’d)

A credit allowance for Company prepaid calling card service is applicable
to that portion of a call that is interrupted due to poor transmission,
one-way transmission, or involuntary disconnection of the call. To receive
the proper credit, the Customer must notify the Company at the designated
Customer Service Number printed on the Company prepaid calling card
and furnish the called number, the trouble experienced (e.g., cut-off, noisy
circuit, etc.), the approximate time the call was placed and the number
from which the call was made. A customer will not receive credit for
reaching a wrong number.

I.  Interruptions to Established Calls

When a call that is charged to a Company prepaid calling card is
interrupted due to cut-off, one-way transmission, or poor
transmission conditions, the Customer will receive credit
equivalent to the Rate per Minute in effect for that call.

2. When Credit Allowances Do Not Apply

Credit allowances for calls pursuant to a Company prepaid calling
card do not apply for:

- Interruptions not reported to the Company,

- Interruptions that are due to the failure of power, equipment
or systems not provided by the Company,

- Interruptions caused by the failure of other services
provided by this Company which are connected to the
Company prepaid calling card service, or

- Error on Customer’s or end user’s part.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont'd)
36  Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont’d)

Company prepaid calling card service may be offered to Customers from
time to time at various locations including, but not limited to, trade shows,
country fairs, exhibits, meetings, seminars, and similar events and also in
certain Consumer Telecommunications Service Customer complaint
situations.

All promotions are subject to the Commission’s review and are offered on
a non-discriminatory basis.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont’d)
3.6  Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont’d)
3.6.2 Prepaid Calling Card

Rates and charges that apply to calls placed using the Prepaid Calling Card are as
follows:

Rate per minute: $0.25

LM RIEN )
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobumn, Massachusetts 01801







VERIFICATION

1. Fritz von Mering, hereby declare under penalty of perjury, that I am Treasurer
of BCGI Communications Corp , the Applicant in this proceeding, that | am authonzed to
make this verification on the Applicant’s behalf, that | have read the foregoing
Application and exhibits, and that the facts stated therein are true and correct to the best
of my knowledge, information and belief In addition, | hereby declare that the Applicant
agrees to adhere to all state laws and all commission policies. rules and orders

1 w~~H»~——f

Fritz von Mering
Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp

v
Subscribed and sworn to before me this % day of meca—-.lol/ o

Wl

Notary Publid \

My Commission expires. 93 tl‘ oS
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On December 23, 1999, Northem States Power Company filed a petition seeking approval of
the inclusion of the expenses of financial instruments and linked transactions as related to the
purchase of energy to be recovered within the fuel adjustment clause.

NATURAL GAS

NGS9-010 In the Matter of the Filing by MidAmerican Energy Company for Approval of
its 1999 Economic Development Report and its 2000 Economic
Development Plan.

On December 29, 1999, the Commission received a filing from MidAmerican Energy Company
of: (1) a report of its 1999 economic development activity as required by SD Public Utilities
Commission Docket NGS8-011; and (2) setting forth its 2000 economic development plan in
accordance with the same docket.

Staff Analyst: Michele Farris
Staff Attorney: Karen Cremer
Date Filed: 12/29/99
Intervention Deadline: 01/14/2000

TELECOMMUNICATIONS

TC99-121 In the Matter of the Application of WebNet Communications, inc. for a
Certificate of Authority to Provide Telecommunications Services in South
Dakota.

WebNet Communications, Inc. seeks a Certificate of Authority to provide resold intrastate
interexchange telecommunications services. WebNet will provide service to commercial
enterprises and residential customers. WebNet does not seek authority at this time to provide
any form of operator services nor any service 1o payphones.

TC99-122 In the Matter of the Application of Adelphia Telecommunications, Inc. for a
Certificate of Authority to Provide Telecommunications Services in South
Dakota.




Adelphia Telecommunications, Inc. (Adelphia) seeks a Certificate of Authority to provide
resold intrastate long distance telecommunication services. Adelphia intends to offer 1+ direct
dialing long distance service, calling cards, intemational caliing, "1-800/888" service, and

Staff Analyst: Heather Formey
Staff Attomey: Karen Cremer
Date Filed: 12/23/99

intervention Date: 01/14/2000

TC99-123 In the Matter of the Filing for Approval of a Type 2 Wireless Interconnection
Agreement between U S WEST Communications, inc. and TW Wireless,
LLC.

On December 23, 1999, the Public Utilities Commission received an interconnection
agreement between TW Wireless, L.L.C. and U S WEST Communications, Inc. for approval
by the Commission. The agreement governs services for resale, certain unbundied network
elements, ancillary functions and additional features to TW Wireless for TW Wireless' offering
and provisioning of telecommunications services. The Agreement also sets forth the terms,
conditions and prices under which the parties agree to interconnect and pay reciprocal
compensation for the exchange of local traffic.

Any party wishing to comment on the agreement may do so by filing written comments with
the Commission and the parties to the agreement no later than January 13, 2000. Parties to
the agreement may file written responses to the comments no later than January 25, 2000.

Staff Attomey: Camron Hoseck
Date Filed: 12/23/99
Comments Due: 1/13/2000

H89-124 - In the Matter of the Application of BCGI Communications Corp. for a
Certificate of Authority to Provide Telecommunications Services in South
Dakota.

BCGI Communications Corp. seeks a Certificate of Authority to provide resold intrastate
interexchange telecommunications services. BCGI proposes initially to provide prepaid
calling card services only.

TC99-125 In the Matter of the Filing for Approval of an Iinterconnection Agreement
between U S WEST Communications, Inc. and Pathnet, inc.




On December 29, 1999, the Public Utilities Commission received an interconnection
agreement between Pathnet, Inc. and U S WEST Communications, Inc. for approval by the
Commission. The agreement govemns services for resale, certain unbundled network
elements, ancillary functions and additional features to Pathnet, Inc. for the offering and
provisioning of telecommunications services by Pathnet, Inc. The Agreement also sets forth
the terms, conditions and prices under which the parties agree to interconnect and pay
reciprocal compensation for the exchange of local traffic.

Any party wishing to comment on the agreement may do so by filing written comments with
the Commission and the parties to the agreement no later than January 19, 2000. Parties to
the agreement may file written responses to the comments no later than January 31, 2000.

Staff Attomey: Camron Hoseck
Date Filed: 12/29/99
Comments Due: 01/19/2000

You may receive this listing and other PUC publications via our website or via internet e-mail.
You may subscribe or unsubscribe to the PUC mailing lists at http:fiwww.state sd_us/puc/
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WASHINGTON, DC 20007-5116
TELEPHONE (202)424-7500
FACSIMILE (202) 424.7645
NEW YORK OFFICE

405 LEXINGTON AVENLE
NEw YORK, NY 10174

January 20, 2000
Ccorne

VIA OVERNIGHT DELIVERY rmaedore

A
William Bullard, Executive Director )

South Dakota Public Utlities Commission SOUTH DAKNTA PUT!
500 E. Capitol Ave. UTILITMES (

State Capitol Building, First Floor

Pierre, South Dakota 57501

“~ QO

Re:  Application of BCGI Communications Corp.: Docket No. TC99-124 -
Submission of Certificate of Authority to Transact Business as a Foreign

Corporation

Dear Mr. Bullard:

Enclosed for filing on behalf of BCGI Communications Corp. ("BCGI") are an original and
ten (10) copies of BCGI's Certificate of Authority to transact business in the State of South Dakota
as a foreign corporation. Kindly associate this filing with BCGI's Application for a Certificate of
Authority to Provide Resold Interexchange Telecommunications Services in South Dakota filed on
December 27, 1999 in the docket number referenced above.

Please date-stamp the enclosed extra copy of this letter and retumn it in the self-addressed,
postage-paid envelope attached. Should you have any questions concerning this filing, please do not
hesitate to contact Jeanne Stockman at (202) 295-8392.

Very truly yours,
G Pl
inc Wang
Jeanne W. Stockman
Counsel for BCGI Communications Corp.

Enclosures

cc: Alan Bouffard
Megan Rha (w/o encl.)




Sy OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Certificate of Authority

o I, JOYCE HAZELTINE, Secretary of State of the State of South Dakota,
iy hereby certify that the Application for a Certificate of Authority of BCGI
A COMMUNICATIONS CORP. (DE) to transact business in this state duly
i signed and verified pursuant to the provisions of the South Dakota Corporation
Acts, have been received in this office and are found to conform to law.

ACCORDINGLY and by virtue of the authority vested in me by law, I hereby
issue this Certificate of Authority and attach hereto a duplicate of the application
to transact business in this state.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I
have hereunto set my hand and
affixed the Great Seal of the State of
South Dakota, at Pierre, the Capital,
this December 20, 1999.

/4
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SWIDLER BERLIN SHEREFF FRIEDMAN, LLp

3000 K STREET, NW, SUITE 300
WASHINGTON, DC 20007-5116

TELEPHONE (202)424-7500 NEW YORK OsFics
FACSIMILE (202) 424-7647 405 LEXINGTON AVENUE
WEW SWIDLAW.COM NEw YORK, NY 10174

TELEPHONE (212) 9730111
FACSIMILE (212) 891-9598

February 3, 2000
FEB C 4 2000
Keith Senger, Utility Analyst
South Dakota Public Utilities Commission SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC
State Capitol Building, 500 E. Capitol Ave. UTILITIES COMMISSION

Pierre, South Dakota 57501-5070

Re:  Responses to Data Request 1; Application of BCGI Communications Corp. for a
Certificate of Authority to Provide Resold Interexchange Telecommunication

Services in South Dakota; Docket No. TC99-124

Dear Mr. Senger:

On behalf of BCGI Communications Corp. ("BCGI"), please find an original and ten (10)
copies of responses to your letter dated January 4, 2000:

1. BCGI is authorized to provide intrastate interexchange telecommunications services in
the following states pursuant to certification, registration, or where applicable,
dereguiation: Colorado, Idaho, Indiana, lowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Massachusetts,
Michigan, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina,
Ohio, Rhode Island, Texas, Utah, Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming.

9

BCGl is in the process of obtaining a $25,000 bond and will forward it to the Commis-
sion as soon as it is available.

3. BCGI has removed Section 2.3.2 from its tariff. A substitute tanff page is attached
hercto as Exhibit A.




Keith Senger, Utility Analyst
February 3, 2000
Page 2

Please date-stamp the enclosed extra copy of this letter and return it in the attached postage-
paid envelope. If you have any further questions or concems regarding BCGI's application, please
do not hesitate to contact Jeanne Stockman at (202) 295-8392.

Respectfully submitted,

my,&ww.

Wang
Jeanne W. Stockman

Counsel for BCGI Communications Corp.

Enclosures

cc: Alan Bouffard

nns



EXHIBIT A

BCGI Communications Corp. Substitute Tariff Page




- "BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Taniff No. |

Original Sheet No. 9

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)

23

Lisbility of Carri

2.3.1 Except as otherwise stated in this section, the liability of Carrier for damages arising
out of either: (1) the furnishing of its services, including but not limited to mistakes,
omissions, interruptions, delays, or errors, or other defects, representations, or use of
these services, or (2) the failure to fumish its service, whether caused by acts or
omission, shall be limited to the extension of allowances to the Customer for
interruptions in service as set forth herein.

2.3.2 |Reserved for future use]

2.3.3 The liability of Carrier for errors in billing that result in overpayment by the
Customer shall be limited to a credit equal to the dollar amount erroneously billed
or, in the event that payment has been made and service has been discontinued, to a
refund of the amount erroneously billed.

2.3.4 Carrier shall not be liable for any claims for loss or damages involving:
A. Any act or omission of: (1) the Customer; (2) any other entity fumnishing

service, equipment or facilities for use in conjunction with services or
facilities provided by Carrier; or (3) common carriers or warchousemen;

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




T7299-144

——= BOSTON
- COMMUNICATIONS

=== GROUP
RECEIVED
FEB 24 430
SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC
UTILITIES COMMISSION
BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY
5 February 23, 2000
_ Utility Analyst
tilities Commission

Keith
South Dakota Public U
500 E. Capitol Ave

State Capitol Building,
Pierre, South Dakota 57501-5070

Re: B_cm_(&mumamm
_in the amount of $25,000,

Dear Mr. Senger:
Enclosed is the Indemnity Bond of BCGI Communications Corp
letter dated January 4, 2000. 1f anything further is required, please

which was requested in your
let me know

Very truly yours,

Alan J. ffar

cc: Jeanne W. Stockman, Esq.

100 SYLVAN ROAD, SUITE 100, WOBURN, MA 01801 PHONL.: (617) 692-7000 FAX: (817) 6926200




INDEMNITY BOND
To the
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA

Bond No. 065103252964

We, BCGI Communications Corp., the principal and applicant for a CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY to
resell long distance telecommunications services within the State of South Dakota, and

and Surety Company of America, as an admitted surety insurer, bind ourselves unto the Public Utilities
Commussion of the State of South Dakota and the consumers of South Dakota as Utilities Obligee, in the
sum of $25,000.00.

The conditions of the obligation are such that the principal, having been granted such
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY subject to the provision that said principal purchases this Indemnity
Bond, and if said pnincipal shall in all respects fully and faithfully comply with all applicable provisions
of South Dakota State Law, and reimburse customers of BCGI Communications Corp. for any
prepayment or deposits they have made which may be unable or unwalling to retum to said customers as a
result of mnsolvency or other business failure, then this obligation shall be void, discharged and forever
exonerated, otherwise to remain in full force and effect.

This bond shall take effect as of the date hereon and shall remain in force and effect until the
surety 1s released from liability by the written order of the Public Utilities Commission, provided that the
surety may cancel this Bond and be relieved of further liability hereunder by delivenng thirty (30) days
wniten notice to the Public Utilities Commussion. Such cancellation shall not affect any liability incurred
or accrued hereunder prior to the termination of said thirty (30) day penod.

Dated this 16* day of February, 2000.

To be effective this 16* day of February, 2000.

MM(Z M AD ]
. X 1 Communications i
U libyones bt R
, 1 By POr
b fraiie - (

Countersigned this 16* day of

Ecbruary, 2000.

Countersigned for South Dakota

By W' eld o
Nick Gusso
Resident Agent

M ‘nonchent\personnel vegnaer\INDBDBCGI2 1600 doc




TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY
FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY

Hartford, Connecticut 06183-9062
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS
Naperville, Ilinois 60563-8458

POWER OF ATTORNEY AND CFRTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY OF ATTORNEY(S)-IN-FACT

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, THAT TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF
AMERICA, TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY and FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY,
corporations duly organized under the laws of the State of Connecticut, and having their pnincipal offices in the City of Hartford,
County of Hartford, State of Connecticut, and TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS, a
corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of [llinois, and having its pnincipal office in the City of Naperville, County of
DuPage, State of Illinois, (hereinafier the “Companies™) hath made, constituted and appointed, and do by these presents make,
constitute and appoint: Reger G. Regnier, Patricia A. Hopgood, Jobn LaRusso or Christine Hession * *

of Beston, MA, their truc and lawful Attorney(s)-in-Fact, with full power and authonty hereby conferred to sign, execute and
acknowledge, at any place within the United States, or, if the following linc be filled in, within the area there designated

the following instrument(s)

by his’her sole signature and act, any and all bonds, recognizances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in the
nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking and any and all consents incident thereto

and to bind the Companics, thereby as fully and to the same extent as if the same were signed by the duly authorized officers
of the Companics, and all the acts of said Attorncy(s)-in-Fact, pursuant to the authority bereia given, are hereby ratified and
coafirmed.

This appointment is made under and by authonity of the following Standing Resolutions of said Companies, which Resolutions are
now in full force and effect:

VOTED: That the Charrman, the President, any Vice Chainman, any Executive Vice Presadent, any Semor Vice Presadent, any Vice Presadent, any
Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may appoint Attorneys-in-Fact
and Agents & act for and on behalf of the company and may give such appointee such authonity as hus or her certificate of authonity may prescribe
1o sign with tse Company's name and seal with the Company's seal bonds, recognzances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in
the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, and any of sad officers or the Board of Durectors at any ime may remove any such
appomtee and revoke the power given hum or her

VOTED: That the Chairman, U Pressdent, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Semor Vice Presagent or any Vice Presadent
may delegate all or any part of the foregoing authonty to one or more officers or employees of thus Company, provided that each such delegation is
in writing and a copy thereof is filed in the office of the Secretary

VOTED: That any bond, recognizance, contract of indemmity, or wnting obligatory mn the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional
undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (2) sagned by the Presadent, any Vice Chaurman, any Executive Vice President, any
Senior Vice President or any Vice President, any Second Vice Presadent, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any
Assistant Secretary and duly attested and sealed with the Company's seal by a Secretary or A7 astant Secretary, or (b) duly executed (under seal, if
required) by one or more Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents pursuant to the power prescnbed in hus or her certificate or ther certificates of authonity or
by one or more Company officers pursuant 1o a wnitien delegation of authonty

This Power of Attorncy and Certificate of Authority is signed and scaled by facsimile under and by authorit: of the following
Standing Resolution voted by the Boards of Directors of TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF
AMERICA, TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY, FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY and
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS, which Resolution is mow in full force and effect:

VOTED: That the signature of each of the following officers: President, any Executive Vice President, any Semuor Vice President, any Vice
President, any Assistant Vice President, any Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any
power of atiomey or to any certificate relating thereto appomting Resident Vice Presidents, Resident Assistant Secretanies or Attomeys-in-Fact for
purposes only of executing and attesting bonds and undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such power of attormey
or certificate bearing such facsimile signature or facsumile scal shall be valid and binding upon the Company and any such power so executed and
certified by such facsimile signature and facsumule seal shall be valid and binding upon the Company in the future with respect to any bond o
undertaking to wiuch it 1s attached




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA, TRAVELERS
CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY, FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY and TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND
SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS have caused this instrument 10 be signed by their Semior Vice President, and their corporate
seals 1o be hereto affixed this 14th day of July, 1999

STATE OF CONNECTICUT TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY
}SS. Hartford FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

George W. Thompson
Senior Vice President

On this 14th day of July, 1999 before me personally came GEORGE W. THOMPSON to me known, who, being by me duly sworn,
did deposc and say: that he/she is Semior Vice Presidest of TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF
AMERICA, TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY, FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY and
TRAVEI ERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS, the corporations described in and which executed the
above instrument; that he/she knows the seals of said corporations; that the seals affixed to the said instrument are such corporate
scals; and that he/she executed the said instrument on behalf of the corporations by authority of his/her office under the Standing

Resolutions thereof.
ane ¢ daeansk
My commission expires June 30, 2001 Notary Public
Marie C. Tetreault

CERTIFICATE

I, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF AMERICA,
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY and FARMINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY, stock corporations of
the State of Coanecticut, and TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY OF ILLINOIS, stock corporation of the
State of Hlinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing and attached Power of Atiorney and Centificate of Authority remains in
full force and has not been revoked; and furthermore, that the Standing Resolutions of the Boards of Directors, as set forth in the
Centificate of Authority, are now in force.

Signed and Sealed at the Home Office of the Company. in the City of Hartford, State of Connecticut. Dated this 160 dayof
February, 2000
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SwIDLER BERLIN SHEREFF FRIEDMAN, 1R GINA

WassnoToN OFFCE New Yorx OFFce

3000 K SteexT, NW, Surre 300 919 THIRD AVENLE

WassancToN, DC 20007-5116 New YORk, NY 10022

TELEPHONE (202) 4247500 TELEPHONE (212) 7569500

FaCsaans (Q00) 424-7647 FACSDMLE (212) 7589526
March 6, 2000

RECEIVED

BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY

MARC7 2
William Bullard, Executive Director 2000
South Dakota Public Utilities Commission SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC
State Capitol Building, 500 E. Capitol Ave. UTILITIES COMMISSION

Pierre, South Dakota 57501-5070

Re:  Revised Tariff Pages; Application of BCGI Communications Corp. for a
Certificate of Authority to Provide Resold Interexchange Telecommunication
Services in South Dakota; Docket No. TC99-124

Dear Mr. Bullard:

On behalf of BCGI Communications Corp. ("BCGI"), please find an oniginal and ten (10)
copies of tanf¥ revisions made pursuant to the request of Karen Cremer of the Commission Staff.
Specifically, Sections 2.3.1, 2.3.3, 23411, 234J, and 2.3.8 have been amended.  For the
Commission’s reference, we have enclosed replacement pages as well as a complete copy of the
amended taniff which incorporating these changes.

Please date-stamp the enclosed extra copy of this letter and retum it in the attached
postage-paid envelope. If you have any further questions or concems regarding BCGI's
application, please do not hesitate to contact Jeanne Stockman at (202) 295-8392.

Respectfully submitted,

’
g
\(.‘. A N oL i, St N
V ik o gl A ) 5

Cathérine Wang
Jeanne W. Stockman
Counsel for BCGI Communications Corp.

Enclosures

oc: Karen Cremer
Alan Bouffard




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. 1
Original Sheet No. 9

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
iability of Carri

23

2.3.1

o
'
L

o
)
W

234

Except as otherwise stated in this section, the liability of Camier for damages arising
out of either: (1) the furnishing of its services, including but not limited to mistakes,
omissions, interruptions, delays, or errors, or other defects, representations, or use of
these services, or (2) the failure to fumish its service, whether caused by acts or
omission, shall be limited to the extension of allowances to the Customer for
interruptions in service as set forth herein or as otherwise allowed by South Dakota
law.

|Reserved for future usej

The liability of Camrier for errors in billing that result in overpayment by the
Customer shall be limited to a credit equal to the dollar amount erroneously billed
or, in the event that payment has been made and service has been discontinued, to a
refund of the amount erroneously billed, or other remedies allowed by South Dakota
law.

Carmier shall not be liable for any claims for loss or damages involving:
A. Any act or omission of: (1) the Customer; (2) any other entity furnishing

service, equipment or facilities for use in conjunction with services or
facilities provided by Carrier; or (3) common carriers or warchousemen;

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801



BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tariff No. |

Original Sheet No. 11

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
23 Liability of Camier (Cont'd)

234 (Cont’d)

G.

Injury to property or injury or death to persons, including claims for
payments made under Workers' Compensation law or under any plan for
employee disability or death benefits, anising out of, or caused by, any act or
omission of the Customer, or the construction, installation, maintenance,
presence, use or removal of the Customer’s facilities or equipment connected,
or 10 be connected to Carrier’s facilities;

Any intentional, wrongful act of a Camer employee when such act is not
within the scope of the employee's responsibilities for Camier and/or is not
authorized by Carmier;

To the extent permitted by South Dakota law, any representations made by
Carrier employees that do not comport, or that are inconsistent, with the
provisions of this TanfT,

To the extent permitted by South Dakota law, any act or omission in
connection with the provision of 911, E911, or similar services involving
emergencies;

Any noncompletion of calls due to network busy conditions;

Any calls not actually attempted to be completed duning any period that
service 1s unavailable.

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |
Original Sheet No. 13

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
2.3 Liability of Carrier (Cont'd)

2.3.7 Carmer assumes no responsibility for the availability or performance of any cable or
satellite systems or related facilities under the control of other entities, or for other
facilities provided by other entities used for service to the Customer, even if Carrier
has acted as the Customer’s agent in arranging for such facilities or services. Such
facilities are provided subject to such degree of protection or nonpreemptibility as
may be provided by the other entities.

2.3.8 Any claim of whatever nature against Carrier shall be deemed conclusively to have
been waived unless presented either orally or in writing to Carrier within 180 days
after the date of the occurrence that gave rise to the claim or within the applicable
statute of limitations under South Dakota law.

24 | its

The Company does not require a deposit from the Customer.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobumn, Massachusetts 01801



BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tariff No. 1
Onginal Title Sheet

TITLE SHEET

This tanfT is governed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of South Dakota.
It applies 10 resold intrastate telecommunications services furnished by BCGI Communications Corp.
(“Carner”™) between one or more points in the State of South Dakota. This tarifT is on file with the
South Dakota Public Utilities Commission (“Commission”), and copies may be inspected, during
normal business hours, at Camier’s principal place of business, 100 Sylvan Road, Wobumn,
Massachusetts 01801.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobumn, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |
Original Sheet No. 1

CHECK SHEET

The sheets of this tariff are effective as of the date shown at the bottom of the respective
sheet(s). Original and revised sheets as named below comprise all changes from the original tariff
and are currently in effect as of the date on the bottom of this page.

SHEET REVISION
Title Sheet  Original

1 Original

2 Original

3 Original

4 Original

5 Original

6 Orniginal

7 Original

8 Original

9 Original

10 Original

11 Original

12 Original

13 Original

14 Original

15 Original

16 Original

17 Original

18 Original

19 Original

20 Original

21 Original

22 Original

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |
Orniginal Sheet No. 2

o o N o R ST TR IR S L KR T i R SR RS R R 1
TabIC OFCOMMBIAS . < . i i iihos b Sinsmionis soindisim oioie oo solnrars soajsin 6 omin o atEia e a/n ninn e sss 2
SYMBOIS ......cccottacitsccrorsnacaottsciosssoscsnsserssnsssocssanstassorotnas 3
T P ORIREE i oo ubsnvinat ses vadmieiais voiink dueendinessesnamansassssoessn 4
Section | - Technical Temsand Abbreviations . ................covuuneruannnnnaanns 5
Section2-Rulesand Regulations . .............cciiuuireernannnononnssasnsaaennnns 7
Section 3 - Descriptionof Servicesand Rates  ...... ... .. ..ottt 15
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |

Original Sheet No. 3

SYMBOLS

The following are the only symbols used for the purposes indicated below:

C Change in Regulation
D Delete or Discontinue
I Change Resulting In An Increase to A Customer’s Bill
M Moved From Another Tariff Location
N New
R Change Resulting In A Reduction to A Customer’s Bill
T Change In Text or Regulation But No Change In Rate or Charge
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Syivan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. TanfT No. |
Original Sheet No. 4

IFF FORMAT

Sheet Numbering - Sheet numbers appear in the upper right comer of the page. Sheets are
numbered sequentially. However, new sheets are occasior.ally added to the taniff. When a
new sheet is added between sheets already in effect, a decimal is added. For example, a new
sheet added between sheets 14 and 15 would be 14.1.

Sheet Revision Numbers - Revision numbers also appear in the upper right comer of each
page. These numbers are used to determine the most current sheet version on file with the
Commission. For example, the 4th Revised Sheet 14 cancels the 3rd Revised Sheet 14.
Because of various suspension periods, deferrals, etc. the Commission follows in their tariff
approval process, the most current sheet number on file with the Commission is not always
the tanff page in effect.

Paragraph Numbering Sequence - There are nine levels of paragraph coding. Each level of
coding is subservient to its next higher level:

2.

2.1.

2.1.1.

2.1.1.A.

2.1.1AL
2.1.1.A.1.(a).
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L(i).
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L().(1).

Check Sheets - When a tariff filing is made with the Commission, an updated check sheet
accompanies the tariff filing. The check sheet lists the sheets contained in the tariff, with a
cross reference to the current revision number. When new pages are added, the check sheet
is changed to reflect the revision. All revisions made in a given filing are designated by an
astenisk (*). There will be no other symbols used on the check sheet if these are the only
changes made to it (i.c., the format, etc. remains the same, just revised revision levels on
some pages). The tariff user should refer to the latest check sheet to find out if a particular
sheet is the most current on file with the Commission.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. 1
Onginal Sheet No. §

SECTION 1. TECHNICAL TER BBREVIATION

Authorization Code - A numerical code, one or more of which may be assigned to a
Subscriber, to enable Carrier to identify the origin of service User so it may rate and bill the
call. All authorization codes shall be the sole property of Carrier and no Subscriber shall
have any property or other right or interest in the use of any particular authonzation code.
Automatic numbering identification (ANI) may be used as or in connection with the
authorization code.

Automatic Numbering Identification (ANI) - A type of signaling provided by a local
exchange telephone company which automatically identifies the local exchange line from
which a call onginates.

Calling Card - A postpaid or prepaid calling card issued by Camier which allows Subscribers
and/or Users to make telephone calls and charge the calls to a postpaid or prepaid account.
Calls charged to a Camer-issued postpaid Calling Card will appear on the Subscriber’s
regular monthly bill. Calls charged to a Cammer-issued prepaid calling cards will be charged
against the debit account.

Carrier or Company - Refers to BCGI Communications Corp.

Common Carrier - A company or entity providing telecommunications services to the public.
Complaint - Any oral or written report from a Subscriber or user of telephone service relating
to a physical defect, difficulty or dissatisfaction with the operation of telephone facilities,
errors in billing or the quality of service rendered.

Commission - Refers to the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission.

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801



BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |

Original Sheet No. 6

SECTION 1. TECHNICAL TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS (Cont'd)

Holiday - New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day and Christmas Day.

Local Access and Transport Area (LATA) - The term "Local Access Transport Area” denotes
a geographical area established by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia in
Civil Action No. 82-0192, within which a local exchange company provides communications
services.

Measured Charge - A charge assessed on a per minute basis in calculating a portion of the
charges due for a completed interexchange call.

Subscriber/Customer - The person, firm, corporation or legal entity that enters into
arrangements for Carrier’s telecommunications services and is responsible for payment of
Carrier’s services.

Telecommunications - The transmission of voice communications or, subject to the
transmission capabilities of the service, the transmission of data, facsimile, signaling,

metering, or other similar communications.

User - The person(s) utilizing Carrier’s services.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Svlvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801




BCGI Communications Corp. South Dakota P.U.C. Tanff No. |
Original Sheet No. 7

SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS
2.1  Undertaking of the Carrier

2.1.1 The Company’s services are furnished for communications originating at specified
points within the State of South Dakota under terms of this tariff.

2.1.2 The Company provides the communications services described herein in accordance
with the terms and conditions set forth under this tariff. It may act as the Customer’s
agent for ordering access connection facilities provided by other camriers or entities
when authorized by the Customer, to allow connection of a customer’s location to the
Company’s network. The Customer shall be responsible for all charges due for such
service arrangement.

The Company’s services are provided on a monthly basis unless ordered on a longer
term basis, and are available twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week.

The selling of intrastate interexchange (“IXC”) telecommunications service 1o
uncertificated IXC resellers is prohibited.

December 24, 1999

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)

2.2

Limitati
2.2.1 Service is offered subject to the availability of facilities and provisions of this tariff.

2.2.2 The Company reserves the right to discontinue furnishing service or limit the use of
service (1) when conditions beyond its control necessitate such discontinuance or
limitation of service; or (2) when the Customer is using the Company’s service in
violation of the law or the provisions of this tariff.

2.2.3 Allfacilities provided under this tariff are directly controlied by the Company and the
Customer may not transfer or assign the use of service or facilities, except with the
express written consent of the Company. Such transfer or assignment shall only apply
where there is no interruption of the use or location of the service or facilities.

2.2.4 Prior written permission from the Company is required before any assignment or
transfer. All regulations and conditions contained in this tariff shall apply to all such
permitted assignees or transferees, as well as all conditions for service.

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
23 Lisbility of Carri
2.3.1 Except as otherwise stated in this section, the liability of Carmier for damages arising

23.2

233

234

out of either: (1) the furnishing of its services, including but not limited to mistakes,
omissions, interruptions, delays, or errors, or other defects, representations, or use of
these services, or (2) the failure to furnish its service, whether caused by acts or
omission, shall be limited to the extension of allowances to the Customer for
interruptions in service as set forth herein or as otherwise allowed by South Dakota
law.

[Reserved for future use}

The liability of Camier for errors in billing that result in overpayment by the
Customer shall be limited to a credit equal to the dollar amount erroneously billed or,
in the event that payment has been made and service has been discontinued, to a
refund of the amount erroneously billed, or other remedies allowed by South Dakota
law.

Carrier shall not be liable for any claims for loss or damages involving:
A. Any act or omission of: (1) the Customer; (2) any other entity furnishing

service, equipment or facilities for use in conjunction with services or
facilities provided by Carrier; or (3) common carriers or warchousemen,;

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
23 Liability of Carrier (Cont’d)
234 (Cont'd)

B.

Any delay or failure of performance or equipment due to causes beyond
Camier’s control, including but not limited to, acts of God, fires, floods,
earthquakes, hurricanes, or other catastrophes; national emergencies,
insurrections, riots, wars or other civil commotions; strikes, lockouts, work
stoppages or other labor difficulties; criminal actions taken against Carrier;
unavailability, failure or malfunction of equipment or facilities provided by
the Customer or third parties; and any law, order, regulation or other action
of any governing authority or agency thereof;

Any unlawful or unauthorized use of Carrier’s facilities and services;

Libel, slander, invasion of privacy or infringement of patents, trade secrets,
or copyrights arising from or in connection with the transmission of
communications by means of Carrier-provided facilities or services; or by
means of the combination of Carrier-provided facilities or services with
Customer-provided facilities or services;

Breach in the privacy or security of communications transmitted over
Carrier’s facilities;

Changes in any of the facilities, operations or procedures of Carrier that
render any equipment, facilities or services provided by the Customer
obsolete, or require modification or alteration of such equipment, facilities
or services, or otherwise affect their use or performance, except where
reasonable notice is required by Carrier and is not provided to the Customer,
in which event Carrier’s liability is limited as set forth in subsection 2.3.1 of
this Section 2.3.

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road
Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
2.3 Liability of Camier (Cont'd)
234 (Cont’d)
G. Injury to property or injury or death to persons, including claims for payments

made under Workers' Compensation law or under any plan for employee
disability or death benefits, arising out of, or caused by, any act or omission
of the Customer, or the construction, installation, maintenance, presence, use
or removal of the Customer’s facilities or equipment connected, or to be
connected to Carrier’s facilities;

Any intentional, wrongful act of a Carrier employee when such act is not
within the scope of the employee's responsibilities for Carrier and/or is not
authonized by Carrier;

To the extent permitted by South Dakota law, any representations made by
Carrier employees that do not comport, or that are inconsistent, with the
provisions of this Tariff;

To the extent permitted by South Dakota law, any act or omission in
connection with the provision of 911, E911, or similar services involving
emergencies;

Any noncompletion of calls due to network busy conditions;

Any calls not actually attempted to be completed during any period that
service is unavailable.

December 24, 1999

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
Liability of Camier (Cont'd)

23

235

23.6

Camier shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless by the Customer or end
user from and against any and all claims, loss, demands, suits, expense, or other
action or any hability whatsoever, including attomey fees, whether suffered, made,
instituted, or asserted by the Customer or by any other party, for any personal injury
to or death of any person or persons, and for any loss, damage or destruction of any
property, including environmental contamination, whether owned by the Customer
or by any other party, caused or claimed to have been caused directly or indirectly by
the installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance, presence, condition,
location, use or removal of any Carrier or Customer equipment or facilities or service
provided by Carrier.

Carrier does not guarantee nor make any warranty with respect to installations
provided by it for use in an explosive atmosphere. Except as otherwise provided for
by applicable law or regulations or determined by a court of competent jurisdiction
and unless due to Camier’s negligence, Carrier shall be indemnified, defended and
held harmless by the Customer from and against any and all claims, loss, demands,
suits, or other action, or any liability whatsoever, including attorney fees, whether
suffered, made, instituted or asserted by the Customer or by any other party, for any
personal injury to or death of any person or persons, and for any loss, damage or
destruction of any property, including environmental contamination, whether owned
by the Customer or by any other party, caused or claimed to have been caused
directly or indirectly by the installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance,
presence, condition, location, use or removal of any equipment or facilities or the
service.

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)
23 Liability of Camier (Cont'd)

2.3.7 Carrier assumes no responsibility for the availability or performance of any cable or
satellite systems or related facilities under the control of other entities, or for other
facilities provided by other entities used for service to the Customer, even if Carrier
has acted as the Customer’s agent in arranging for such facilities or services. Such
facilities are provided subject to such degree of protection or nonpreemptibility as
may be provided by the other entities.

2.3.8 Any claim of whatever nature against Cammier shall be deemed conclusively to have
been waived unless presented either orally or in writing to Carrier within 180 days

after the date of the occurrence that gave rise to the claim or within the applicable
statute of limitations under South Dakota law.

24 Deposits

The Company does not require a deposit from the Customer.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.

100 Sylvan Road
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SECTION 2. RULES AND REGULATIONS (Cont'd)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Customer Complaints

Customer complaints are handled by a full service customer service department. Carrier’s
toll-free number will be printed on customer bills. Customers may call Carrier during normal
business hours or submit a written complaint to:

Mr. Jeffrey McLaughlin

BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobumn, Massachusetts 01801

If the customer is not satisfied with the Company’s response, the customer may contact:

The South Dakota Public Utilities Commission
500 E. Capitol Avenue

State Capitol Building

Pierre, SD 57501

Phore: (605) 773-3201

Credit and Refunds
If a credit is requested on a call due to trouble on the line (such as bad connection,
disconnection, wrong number dialed, etc.), and the credit is requested immediately through

the operator of the underlying carrier, it is issued promptly. All other credit requests are
handled through the Company’s business office.

Taxes

All state and local taxes (i.e., gross receipts tax, sales tax, municipal utilities tax) are separate
items and are not included in the quoted rates.

By:

December 24, 1999 Effc :uve:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobumn, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES

3.1

32

33

Vhen Billing C} Begin and End for Phone Call

The Customer’s long distance usage charge is based on the actual usage of the Company’s
network. Usage begins when the called party picks up the receiver, (i.c., when 2-way
communications, often referred to as “conversation time” is possible.). When the called
party picks up is determined by hardware answer supervision in which the local telephone
company sends a signal to the switch or the software utilizing audio tone detection. When
software answer supervision is employed, up to sixty (60) seconds of ringing is allowed
before it is billed as usage of the network. A call is terminated when the calling or called
party hangs up.

Biliing I
Except as otherwise stated herein, the minimum call duration for billing purposes is three (3)

minutes for a connected call and calls beyond three (3) minutes are billed in one (1) minute
increments.

leted Calls/Mini Call Completion R

The Company does not bill Customers for calls which are not completed (busy numbers, no
answer, etc.).

A Customer can expect a call completion rate (number of calls completed / number of calls
attempted) of not less than 90% during peak use periods.

-

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES

34

35

M e Telecom ications Services

Message Telecommunications Services (“MTS”) consist of the furnishing of message
telephone service between telephone stations located within the State. MTS is available
on both a switched and dedicated basis. Rates for dedicated service depend upon the
Customer’s term commitment. Rates for Switched service are on a 24 hours a day,
everyday basis with no monthly fees. Calls are billed in full minute increments for
intrastate calls. 1+ interLATA is completed through presubscription, while 1+intraLATA
is completed through 10XXX or other access codes.

Rate per minute: [Reserved for future use]

800 Service

800 Service is an inbound-only service in which callers located within the State may
place toll-free calls to a telephone in the 800 area code assigned to the Customer. 800
Service is available to Customers utilizing switched or dedicated access. Rates for
dedicated service depend upon the Customer’s term commitment. 800 service calls are
billed in six second initial and additional billing increments.

Rate per minute: [Reserved for future use]

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont’d)
36  Company Prepaid Calling Card Services
3.6.1 General Rules and Regulations

Company prepaid calling card service provides voice grade communications
service for calls charged to a Company prepaid calling card.

A.

Calls That May Not Be Completed

The following types of calls may not be completed with a Company
prepaid calling card:

- Calls to 500 numbers
- Calls to 700 numbers
- Calls to 900 numbers
- Operator services

- Conference calls

Expirati

Company prepaid calling cards expire six (6) months after its initial use, or
by the end of the calendar year of purchase if never used.

vailabili

Company prepaid calling card service is available twenty-four hours a day,
seven days a week from Dual Tone Multi Frequency phones. The number
of available Company prepaid calling cards is subject to technical
limitations. Such cards will be offered to Customers on a first come, first
served basis.

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont'd)
3.6 om aid Calli ic nt’
3.6.1 lation 3

D.  Access and Use

1. Company prepaid calling card service is accessed using the 800
number printed on the specific card.

N

All calls must be charged against a Company prepaid calling card
that has a sufficient available balance.

3. A Customer’s call will be interrupted with an announcement when
the balance is about to be depleted. Such announcement will occur
one minute before the balance will be depleted, based on the
terminating location of the call.

4. Calls in progress will be terminated by the Company if the balance
on the Company prepaid calling card is insufficient to continue the

call.
Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
100 Sylvan Road

Wobum, Massachusetts 01801
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont'd)

3.6  Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont'd)

Company prepaid calling cards are available in various dollar
denominations. These prices include taxes that are calculated
based on usage. They do not include sales or excise taxes due at
the point of purchase. Company prepaid calling card service rates
apply twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week.

The various dollar denominations may range from $5.00 to
$100.00, or as otherwise specified by the Company. Company
prepaid calling cards will be decremented the appropriate Rate per
Minute specified herein, that are in effect at the time the call is
made. The Rates per Minute apply to each minute or fraction
thereof for a call. Where the dollar value left on a Company
prepaid calling card is less than the lowest Rate per Minute for the
respective Company prepaid calling card service, the card will be
retired and the unused balance forfeited. Company prepaid calling
cards are not rechargeable.

A $0.50 call charge is applicable to calls that originate from any
payphone used to access Company’s services. This charge is
applied in addition to standard tariffed usage charges and any
applicable surcharges associated with Company’s services, and is
not cligible to receive discounts or contribute to minimum wage
requirements.

December 24, 1999 Effecuve:

Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
BCGI Communications Corp.
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SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont’d)
3.6 id Calli ervices (Cont'd

3.6.1 General Rules and Regulations (Cont’d)

F.

W Int ti

A credit allowance for Company prepaid calling card service is applicable
to that portion of a call that is interrupted due to poor transmission,
one-way transmission, or involuntary disconnection of the call. To receive
the proper credit, the Customer must notify the Company at the designated
Customer Service Number printed on the Company prepaid calling card
and fumnish the called number, the trouble experienced (e.g., cut-off, noisy
circuit, etc.), the approximate time the call was placed and the number
from which the call was made. A customer will not receive credit for
reaching a wrong number.

1. Interruptions to Established Calls

When a call that is charged to a Company prepaid calling card is
interrupted due to cut-off, one-way transmission, or poor
transmission conditions, the Customer will receive credit
equivalent to the Rate per Minute in effect for that call.

2. When Credit Allowances Do Not Apply

Credit allowances for calls pursuant to a Company prepaid calling
card do not apply for:

- Interruptions not reported to the Company,

- Interruptions that are due to the failure of power, equipment
or systems not provided by the Company,

- Interruptions caused by the failure of other services
provided by this Company which are connected to the
Company prepaid calling card service, or

- Error on Customer’s or end user’s part.

SECTION 3. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND RATES (Cont’d)

Issued:

By:

December 24, 1999 Effective:
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3.6 Company Prepaid Calling Card Services (Cont’d)

3.6.1 R atio ont'd
G. id Calli

Company prepaid calling card service may be offered to Customers from
time to time at various locations including, but not limited to, trade shows,
country fairs, exhibits, meetings, seminars, and similar events and also in
certain Consumer Telecommunications Service Customer complaint
situations.

All promotions are subject to the Commission’s review and are offered on
a non-discriminatory basis.

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer
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SECTION . 1 Vi ND R t'd
3.6 ‘ompany ai 1 rvices
3.6.2 Prepaid Calling Card

Rates and charges that apply to calls placed using the Prepaid Calling Card are as
follows:

Rate per minute: $0.25

nna

Issued: December 24, 1999 Effective:
By: Fritz von Mering, Treasurer

BCGI Communications Corp.
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BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION OF ) ORDER GRANTING
BCGI COMMUNICATIONS CORP. FOR A ) CERTIFICATE OF

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY TO PROVIDE ) AUTHORITY
TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES IN )
SOUTH DAKOTA ) TC99-124

On December 27, 1999, the Public Utilities Commission (Commission), in
accordance with SDCL 49-31-3 and ARSD 20:10:24:02, received an application for a
certificate of authority from BCGI Communications Corp. (BCGI).

BCGI proposes to offer resold intrastate interexchange telecommunications services
within South Dakota. A proposed tariff was filed by BCGl. The Commission has classified
long distance service as fully competitive

On December 30, 1999, the Commission electronically transmitted notice of the
filing and the intervention deadline of January 14, 2000, to interested individuals and
entities. No petitions to intervene or comments were filed and at its March 28, 2000,
meeting, the Commission considered BCGI's request for a certificate of authority
Commussion Staff recommended granting a certificate of authority, subject to a continuous
$25,000 surety bond. Commission Staff further recommended a waiver of ARSD
20:10:24.02(8)

The Commission finds that it has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to SDCL
Chapter 49-31, specifically 49-31-3 and ARSD 20:10:24:02 and 20:10.24.03. The
Commission finds that BCGI has met the legal requirements established for the granting
of a certificate of authority. BCGI has, in accordance with SDCL 49-31-3, demonstrated
sufficient technical, financial and managerial capabilities to offer telecommunications
services in South Dakota. Further, the Commission finds that there is good cause to waive
ARSD 20.10:24:02(8). The Commission approves BCGI's application for a certificate of
authority, subject to a continuous $25,000 surety bond. As the Commission's final decision
in this matter, it is therefore

ORDERED, that BCGI's application for a certificate of authority is hereby granted,
subject to a continuous $25,000 surety bond. It is

FURTHER ORDERED, that the Commission finds good cause to waive ARSD
20:10:24:.02(8). ltis

FURTHER ORDERED, that BCGI shall file informational ¢ pies of tariff changes
with the Commission as the changes occur.




Dated at Pierre, South Dakota, this _.3/ Dzday of March, 2000.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that ths
document has been served today upon all partes of
record in this docket, as ksted on the docket service
list, by fist class mad n M addressed

enelopes. wih charges
ay_,M/m. MZI{/

Date /-/7[3/00

(OFFICIAL SEAL)
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SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC UTILITIES
COMMISSION

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY

To Conduct Business As A Telecommunications Company
Within The State Of South Dakota

Authority was Granted March 28, 2000
Docket No. TC99-124

This is to certify that

BCGI COMMUNICATIONS CORP.

is authonized to provide telecommunications services in South Dakota.

This certificate is issued in accordance with SDCL 49-31-3 and ARSD
20:10:24:02, and is subject to all of the conditions and limitations contained in
the rules and statutes governing its conduct of offering telecommunications
services.

Dated at Pierre, South Dakota, this .3/ “Z day of M 2000.

SOUTH DAKOTA PUBLIC
UTILITIES COMMISSION:






